Cancer-related cognitive impairment: Neuropsychological function, neurogenesis biomarkers, and a nonpharmacological intervention

Research Proposal 15th of July 2023

Researchers: Siddharth Ganesh – Doctoral Candidate Dr Blake Lawrence - Supervisor Dr Yu Yu – Supervisor

In affiliation with:

School of Population Health; Curtin Medical School; Curtin Health Innovation Research Institute Faculty of Health Sciences Curtin University, Australia

Table of Contents

Abstractiii				
Research Questions and Objectivesiii				
Literature Review of Cancer-Related Cognitive Impairment1				
Introduction1				
Cognitive Domains of Impairment1				
Neurobiological Factors and Mechanisms2				
Psychosocial Factors and Mechanisms4				
Intervention and Treatment5				
Rationale and Significance				
Hypotheses7				
Methodology of Stage I				
Research Design7				
Participants and Recruitment7				
Materials				
Procedure				
Methodology of Stage II				
Research Design9				
Participants and Recruit9				
Materials9				
Procedure9				
Proposed Data Analysis				
Ethical Considerations				
Facilities and Resources				
References				
Appendix A: Simple Study Design Flowchart				
Appendix B: Psychometrics of Proposed Cognitive Measures				
Appendix C: Psychometrics of Proposed Psychosocial Measures				
Appendix D: Proposed Publications and Target Journal Information				



Abstract

Cancer and its treatment are often accompanied by a decline in mental acuity. Whilst specific mechanistic pathways are still contended, the current understanding holds cancer-related cognitive impairment as a complex condition, implicating several factors such as individual lifestyle, cognitive ability, psychosocial wellbeing, age, genetics, tumour biology, treatment type, neurotoxicity, inflammation, and medical history. The proposed research will investigate cancer-related cognitive impairment in people living with cancer, through biomarkers pertaining to neurogenesis, alongside psychocognitive, demographic, and medical history variables. The research will also conduct a randomised control trial assessing the efficacy and feasibility of a nonpharmacological intervention. To account for the complex nature of cancer-related cognitive impairment, machine learning approaches will be used.

Keywords: cancer; cancer-related cognitive impairment; chemobrain; neurodegeneration; machine learning; cognitive training

Research Questions and Objectives

This research aims to adopt an interdisciplinary approach to investigate, through machine learning, the relationships between impaired cognitive functioning, psychosocial factors, medical history, and blood neurogenesis biomarkers in people with cancer, and then apply a novel cognitive training intervention informed by recent meta-analytic evidence (Cheng et al., 2022). These findings will also be evaluated with regard to their translatability to daily oncology care. The overall research uses a sequential design, incorporating both longitudinal and cross-sectional elements, and is split into two stages. Refer to Appendix A for a simple study design flowchart. Stage I will address research questions i, ii, and iii; Stage II will address research questions iv and v.

- i. Which of the assessed neurogenesis, psychocognitive, demographic, and medical history factors are associated with cancer-related cognitive impairment presence and severity in people with cancer?
- ii. How much predictive utility do the machine learning models have in risk stratification of cancer-related cognitive impairment?
- iii. Which of the biological, psychocognitive, demographic, and medical history factors should oncology care providers assess to identify patients at risk of cancer-related cognitive impairment?
- iv. How does the intervention group respond to the cognitive training task compared to the control group?
- v. If beneficial, how can this intervention be implemented into oncology care?

Uncommon Abbreviations

Aβ: Amyloid beta AD: Alzheimer's disease *APOE*: apolipoprotein E BBB: blood-brain barrier BDNF: brain-derived neurotrophic factor CNS: central nervous system CRCI: cancer-related cognitive impairment MCI: mild cognitive impairment



Literature Review of Cancer-Related Cognitive Impairment

In 2021, an estimated 150000 people were diagnosed with cancer in Australia (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2021). Aside from the primary physiological effects, cancer is a debilitating health condition associated with negative outcomes for patients, such as depression, anxiety, chronic pain, social and relational issues, occupational challenges, and worse quality of life (Carreira et al., 2018). Depending on type, stage, tumour subtype, and hormonal status, cancer is primarily treated with surgery, chemotherapy radiotherapy, endocrine therapy, antibody therapy, and/or immunotherapy (Waks & Winer, 2019). The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (2021) reported the five-year survival for individuals with cancer, relative to noncancer controls from the general Australian population, has increased over the last few decades, from 51% (1988-1992), to 70% (2013-2017). With an increasing sophistication of detection and treatment, which reduce cancer mortality rates, understanding and mitigating the sequelae of cancer and interventions has become tantamount (Gutmann, 2019). Cancer-related cognitive impairment is one sequela associated with worsened mental health, quality of life, and employment outcomes for cancer patients and survivors, which can last up to years after cancer remission (Mayo et al., 2021).

Introduction

Cancer related cognitive impairment (CRCI) is the mental decline that is often experienced by individuals with non-central nervous system (CNS) cancer and/or ancillary treatment (Gutmann, 2019). It is important to make this distinction, as CNS cancers would typically implicate and compromise neural networks, and, transitively, cognition. Hereafter, all references to cancer in this paper will only mean non-CNS cancers, unless otherwise explicated. CRCI has also been observed alongside various cancers, such as breast, colorectal, testicular, head, neck, and haematological (Mayo et al., 2021). Most, if not all, CRCI research varying in point(s) of assessment converges on the fact that affective and cognitive impairments are more prevalent in cancer patients than healthy controls (Santos & Pyter, 2018). Whilst the precise mechanistic workings remain unknown, it is suggested that a myriad of biological, psychosocial, and individual factors contribute to CRCI. CRCI is common, with longitudinal studies estimating the effects are experienced by 30% to 40% of individuals before treatment, and 50% to 75% during and after treatment (Mayo et al., 2021; Oppegaard et al., 2021). CRCI is also referred to as "chemofog" or "chemobrain" misnomers stemming from early observations of the phenomenon occurring in response to chemotherapy (Gutmann, 2019). Further investigation dispelled the notion that CRCI is limited to chemotherapy; importantly, a review of murine literature by Seigers and Fardell (2011) indicated that the existence of a non-CNS tumour alone (i.e., pre-treatment) is sufficient to impair functioning of the hippocampus, a region involved in learning and memory (Anand & Dhikav, 2012; Wefel et al., 2015). Despite this, CRCI occurs more often during treatment periods; the failure to manage such an adverse side effect, may dissuade patients from pursuing, and adhering to, lifesaving interventions (Chao et al., 2021). Whilst acute cancer-related stressors and exposure to treatment agents reduce substantially after remission and treatment cession, longitudinal studies report CRCI persistence in a third of cancer survivors one-year post-treatment (Collins et al., 2014; Janelsins et al., 2014).

Cognitive Domains of Impairment

Impairments in short-term/working memory, executive function, and language have been consistently reported across several meta-analyses, before, during, and after treatment (Horowitz et al., 2019). However, these same meta-analyses drew conflicting conclusions for impairments in processing speed, visuospatial processing, and attention (Horowitz et al., 2019). Further investigations have also reported impairments in other domains, such as learning, motor functioning, and visuospatial skills, likely associated with the myriad of comorbidities discussed later (Bai & Yu, 2021; Chao et al., 2021). Severity of experienced symptoms can range from mild attentional issues to disruptive cognitive impairment; however, relative to other neurodegenerative disorders, CRCI severity is considered to be mild to moderate (Mayo et al., 2021). Patients experiencing CRCI may report difficulty with remembering things, multitasking, word retrieval, following conversation/instructions, completing complex tasks, and poor concentration (Bai & Yu, 2021; Horowitz et al., 2019). The only conclusion that can be drawn with certainty is that CRCI has a heterogenous presentation (Horowitz et al., 2019).

One theory suggests the body naturally prioritises lower order, "primitive/basal" processes that are more critical to immediate survival over higher order functions like short-term memory (Ebaid & Crewther, 2020). Whilst this model is functional, it is limited by its simplistic and discrete conceptualisation of cognitive domains and neurophysiology. An alternative theory suggests minor impairments in the lower order and more robust domains disperse out to have more noticeable impairments in higher order functioning (Ebaid & Crewther, 2020; Greenwood, 2000). For example, it has been proposed that cancer-related

attentional disruption may subsequently affect memory and executive function (Ahles et al., 2012; Janelsins et al., 2018; Root et al., 2015). Recently, there has been advocacy against categorising cognitive function assessments, on the basis that most current cognitive tests assess an amalgamation of executive functioning and other domains; this, alongside the complex intertwining of various modalities, renders parsing and demarcating cognitive domains somewhat arbitrary (Díaz-Mardomingo et al., 2017; Lambert et al., 2018).

The degree of cognitive impairment is reflected differently across subjective and objective measures, and are not well correlated (Horowitz et al., 2018). For example, in participants with breast cancer, $50\% \le$ self-reported CRCI, whilst only 15-25% exhibited objectively measurable CRCI (Ahles et al., 2012; Lange et al., 2019). Whilst greater degrees of anxiety, distress, and depression are associated with more severe selfreported cognitive impairment, neither subjective cognitive impairment, nor affective functioning, are well correlated with objective measures of cognitive impairment (Chao et al., 2021; Wefel et al., 2015). Older age is associated with greater objective CRCI, whereas younger age is associated with greater self-reported CRCI (Chao et al., 2021). Despite their intrinsic biases, self-reported measures are recommended for inclusion alongside objective neuropsychological measures when assessing CRCI and intervention efficacy, as selfreport is more sensitive to changes in cognition and appears to reflect daily functioning more realistically than their counterparts (Fernandes et al., 2019; Horowitz et al., 2018; Kesler et al., 2017). Higher premorbid cognitive reserve may be associated with the limitations of objective measures attempting to detect CRCI (Janelsins et al., 2018). Individuals with higher levels of intelligence, education, daily cognitive stimulation, and multilingualism prior to carcinogenesis, diagnosis, and treatment tend to have a greater cognitive reserve, allowing for greater resistance against neurophysiological damage (Song et al., 2022). Transitively, such individuals may demonstrate no apparent cognitive impairment on objective measures but may still report needing to exert greater effort to complete tasks they experienced less challenging prior to their cancer diagnosis (Janelsins et al., 2018). Numerous other risk and protective factors influencing cognitive reserve exist, but as they have a more direct link to CRCI, they are discussed later. As such, the proposed study shall assess cognitive reserve, and shall incorporate both subjective and objective measures of cognition. **Neurobiological Factors and Mechanisms**

Contributing Factors

Several biological risk factors may be associated with CRCI in cancer (noninclusive of potential mechanistic pathways), including older age, obesity, post-menopausal status, cancer-related anaemia, pain sensitivity, blood pressure, and pre-existing medical conditions, such as diabetes (Bai & Yu, 2021; Cheung et al., 2013; Henneghan, 2016; Lange et al., 2019). Differences in CRCI may also exist across sex, race, and genetic variations (Bai & Yu, 2021). The cancer itself influences the severity of CRCI; namely, the tumour type, size, and stage (Mayo et al., 2021). Cancers that are associated with more severe cognitive impairment are generally invasive, greater in mass, and in the later stages (especially metastatic cancers; Mayo et al., 2021). One of the most frequently cited biological risk factors of CRCI is the presence of the epsilon 4 isoform of apolipoprotein E (APOE-ɛ4; Buskbjerg et al., 2019). Mapping onto chromosome 19 in humans, *APOE* is a polymorphic gene with three major allelic variants: ε_2 , ε_3 , and ε_4 . Cancer survivors carrying APOE- $\varepsilon 4$ in both chromatids of chromosome 19 (i.e., APOE- $\varepsilon 4$, 4) reported greater incidence of cognitive impairment than survivors with different genotypes (e.g., APOE-£2,3; Mayo et al., 2021). Furthermore, cancer patients with the ɛ4 allele, in one or both chromatids, are less resistant to neurotoxicity associated with cancer treatment (Bai & Yu, 2021). Notably, APOE- $\varepsilon 4$ is also considered to be the strongest predictor for Alzheimer's disease amongst most ethnicities (Sadigh-Eteghad et al., 2012; Wisniewski & Drummond, 2020). Similarly, certain genetic polymorphisms of catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT), DNA methyltransferase 1 (DMTII), epidermal growth factor 2 (ERBB2), oestrogen receptor 1 and 2 (ESR1 & ESR2), and progesterone gene (PGR) have been proposed as potential risk or protective factors (Buskbjerg et al., 2019; Fernandez et al., 2020; Lv et al., 2020; Ng et al., 2016). Given this, it is understood that premorbid pathophysiology can complicate, and even aggravate, CRCI presentation. Link to Neurodegenerative Disorders

Neuroanatomical changes associated with (primarily treatment-related) CRCI have been observed in the frontal-subcortical profile, which is similar to Alzheimer's, Huntington's, and Parkinson's disease (Bonelli & Cummings, 2007, 2008; Zhao et al., 2015). Although mild cognitive impairment (MCI) is theoretically more similar to CRCI than early-stage Alzheimer's disease (AD), research on the latter is often given precedence when designing CRCI studies, assessments, and interventions (Tao et al., 2020). This is because what is shared between early-stage AD and CRCI is of greater clinical relevance: for example, certain biological mechanisms (e.g., *APOE-ɛ4*; inflammatory markers); psychological distress associated



with terminal diseases; changes in brain structure; risk factors; and even presentation (Henneghan et al., 2020; Tao et al., 2020). Kesler et al. (2017) reported that compared to healthy controls, chemotherapy-treated cancer survivors and chemotherapy-naïve cancer survivors were more likely to develop AD. Note that whilst these similarities and findings do not support, nor suggest, a causative association between early-stage AD and CRCI, they illuminate a potentially shared neural phenotype (Kesler et al., 2017). Furthermore, neurodegenerative disorders and CRCI were once proposed to be aggressive, accelerated forms of ageing, but have since been discredited as overly simplistic (Gonneaud et al., 2021; Leparulo et al., 2022). Recent murine and human CRCI and AD research has refined the theory. Gonneaud et al. (2021) reported that subjects genetically predisposed to AD showed preclinical signs of accelerated ageing as they approached the expected age of onset. CRCI and AD share certain mechanisms with ageing, such as cell senescence and proinflammatory markers (Hurria et al., 2016). Within the proposed study, this "transdiagnostic" approach illuminates potential avenues for CRCI research, already hewn by investigation of mechanistically similar encephalopathies with larger literature bodies (i.e., early-stage AD).

Treatment Related Factors

All cancer treatment, by nature, involves the ablation of tissue matter, whether that be through radiation, surgery, or chemotherapy. Whilst this destruction is targeted at cancerous cells, adjacent, noncancerous tissue is often collateral damage – the extent of which varies depending on the treatment (Waks & Winer, 2019). The treatments most commonly associated with CRCI are chemotherapy, radiation therapy, immunotherapy, targeted therapy, endocrine therapy, and stem cell transplantation (Henneghan, 2016; Mayo et al., 2021). Dosage, cycle, time since last administration, drug combination, emetogenicity of agents, and any treatment related complications may also contribute to CRCI presentation (Di Liso, 2021; Mayo et al., 2021; Oppegaard et al., 2021). To mitigate adverse interventional side effects, cancer patients undergoing treatment are often prescribed adjunct medications such as sedatives, anxiolytics, antidepressants, antiemetics, analgesics (particularly opioids), antioxidants, and corticosteroids; these medications have also been associated with poorer cognitive functioning, even without factoring in pharmacological interactions (Chao et al., 2021).

Possible Mechanistic Pathways

The neuroanatomical structures most affected in CRCI are global and local grey matter volume, brain neural networks, white matter integrity, particularly within frontal-subcortical and temporal regions (Amidi & Wu, 2019; Zhao et al., 2015). In rodents, pre-treatment impairment has been tentatively attributed to disrupted hippocampal neurogenesis caused by the tumour (Seigers & Fardell, 2011; Wefel et al., 2015). In humans, ancillary mechanisms have been proposed by the way of diagnosis-related stress factors; increased, chronic peripheral proinflammatory cytokines; and dysfunctional RNA/DNA repair systems (Hermelink et al., 2007; Mayo et al., 2021; Seigers & Fardell, 2011; Wefel et al., 2015). Note that the numerous theorised mechanistic pathways are in no way mutually exclusive; no individual theory can yet explain the extent of CRCI impact (Schagen et al., 2022). The proposed research will focus on impaired neurogenesis; the following sections summarise key proposed pathways in relation to neurogenesis.

Impaired Neurogenesis. In CRCI (and neurodegenerative diseases), neural apoptosis occurs at a faster rate than neurogenesis, reducing neuronal density, which in turn is associated with a reduction in cognitive capacity and resources (Sun et al., 2021). Neurogenesis and apoptosis, as well as neuroplasticity and neural differentiation, are significantly influenced by brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), which is a neurotrophin primarily active in the hippocampus, cortex, and basal forebrain, as well as components of the peripheral nervous system (Yap et al., 2021). These regions are involved in learning, memory (especially long-term), and higher-order cognition (Yap et al., 2021). Lower BDNF plasma levels, and transitively slower neurogenesis, have been associated with greater perceived cognitive impairment in cancer patients (Ng et al., 2017); however, a certain BDNF polymorphism (Val66Met) has been suggested as protective factor against CRCI, indicating that cancer related changes in BDNF levels are mediated by BDNF gene expression (Tan et al., 2019). Interestingly, CRCI trajectory type (acute vs. persistent) was found to bifurcate the relationship between levels of BDNF and certain proinflammatory cytokines (Yap et al., 2021).

Inflammation. Chronic neuroinflammation has been posited as a likely mechanism underlying CRCI development and maintenance (Oppegaard et al., 2021). Inflammation also underlies two other posited mechanisms: oxidative damage and disrupted neurogenesis/apoptosis. Proinflammatory cytokines are naturally secreted by immune cells when damaged by injurious agents (e.g., carcinogenic cells, chemotherapeutic drugs) in order to stimulate inflammation as a biological defence. Adaptively, inflammation is acute (a few minutes to 2 weeks) and serves to i) limit the spread of the injurious agent by

creating a physical barrier around site of origin, ii) neutralise the injurious agent, and then iii) initiate healing of impacted site. Physiologically, as proinflammatory cytokines are relatively small, they can permeate the blood-brain barrier (BBB). Upon the onset of cancer-related chronic inflammation, proinflammatory cytokines become (further) dysregulated, and may induce neuroinflammation, which, in turn, dysregulates neurogenesis/apoptosis signalling pathways (Oppegaard et al., 2021; Schroyen et al., 2021).

Oxidative Stress and RNA/DNA Damage. Another proposed mechanism is the effect of oxidative stress and RNA/DNA damage on neural tissue brought on by proinflammatory cytokines and therapeutic agents permeating the BBB (Schagen et al., 2022). Oxidative stress is associated with a physiological imbalance resulting in dysregulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) - a molecule integral for homeostatic, immune, and apoptotic cellular functions (Torre et al., 2021). RNA/DNA mutations can occur directly resultant of oxidative stress, or through cytostatic and therapeutic agent neurotoxicity (Bagnall-Moreau et al., 2019; Seigers & Fardell, 2011). These mutations, in turn, induces ROS dysregulation and oxidative stress (Seigers & Fardell, 2011). This cyclical process lends itself to neuronal senescence, inflammation, and dysfunction, including impaired neurogenesis and apoptosis, and is associated with CRCI, AD, and MCI (Hutterer & Oberndorfer, 2021; Schagen et al., 2022).

Amyloid Beta and Tau Protein. Dysfunctions in amyloid beta (A β) and tau protein expression have been regarded as the hallmark pathophysiology for neurodegeneration; however, such biomarkers are not exclusive to neurodegeneration, and have recently been broadened to be indicative of neurophysiological injury (Henneghan et al., 2021). Tangentially, $A\beta$ and tau dysfunction have been associated with certain APOE polymorphisms (Baek et al., 2020; Wisniewski & Drummond, 2020). Overexpression of Aβ precursor proteins, and elevated levels of tau protein, are common amongst numerous cancers, and have been associated with the greater severity of tumours (Darlix et al., 2019; Jin et al., 2017; Pandey et al., 2016). Such abnormalities of AB and tau protein can result in stunted or mutated neuronal cells during neurogenesis and differentiation, as well as accelerated apoptosis of healthy neuronal cells. Furthermore, dysfunctional $A\beta$ and tau has been associated with cognitive impairment in healthy adults (Baek et al., 2020; Sperling et al., 2019). Whilst the theoretical link is intuitive, empirical substantiation has been scarce until recently; Henneghan et al. (2020) using machine learning (random forest regression) reported the combination of $A\beta$, tau, and proinflammatory cytokine biomarkers accounted for 71% of variance in neuropsychological assessments. Other studies have reported similar associations between CRCI and AB and tau protein dysfunction, indicating that this is a likely mechanism (Koh et al., 2020; Liou et al., 2019).

This brief review of possible biological mechanisms is noncomprehensive; other possible contributing factors are dysregulation of cortisol, exosomes, astrocytes, oestrogen, progesterone, and microglia (Fernandez et al., 2020; Lv et al., 2020). Given the scope and constraints of the proposed PhD research, a large-scale study investigating all possible neurophysiological mechanistic pathways is unfeasible. As such, the proposed study will focus on key biomarkers implicated in neurogenesis. Although the diagnostic precision of neuroimaging and cerebral spinal fluid biomarkers is greater than that of blood biomarkers, assessment of the latter is less invasive for patients, more cost-effective, and more time efficient (Chen et al., 2021) – rendering any improvements in precision to be of diminishing returns for the scope of this PhD project. This study will therefore collect and measure blood-based biomarkers.

Psychosocial Factors and Mechanisms

A myriad of psychosocial factors can mitigate or contribute to the onset, severity, and maintenance of CRCI. Protective factors include higher premorbid intelligence quotient (i.e., cognitive reserve), higher education, balanced diet, active lifestyle, and being married (Hutterer & Oberndorfer, 2021; Mayo et al., 2021; Oppegaard et al., 2021; Zhou et al., 2021) Risk factors include insomnia/poor sleep, pre-existing psychological/psychiatric issues, chronic pain, sedentary lifestyles, being divorced/widowed, financial distress and social isolation (Brewster et al., 2017; Lange et al., 2019; Mayo et al., 2021; Zhou et al., 2021). Psychological symptoms commonly associated with CRCI include depression, anxiety, low mood, loss of motivation, distress, fatigue, and changes in behaviour/personality (Lambert et al., 2018; Mayo et al., 2021). Poor sleep, mood disturbances, and chronic pain can compromise cognition in healthy adults; with the alleviation of such symptoms, cognition also improves (Chao et al., 2021; Otte et al., 2015). The stress accompanying cancer diagnosis, treatment, and indeed the disease trajectory, has been likened to posttraumatic stress disorder symptomology (Lange et al., 2019); chronic periods of elevated stress can drain cognitive resources, as evidenced by associations between higher scores on psychological distress measures and lower scores on cognitive assessments in cancer patients (see Yang & Hendrix, 2018). Furthermore, this decline in mental acuity is often a source of distress and frustration for cancer patients, feeding back into



affective disturbances as a bidirectional relationship (Chao et al., 2021). It logically follows that mood disturbances associated with cancer, and CRCI, likely aggravate the cognitive impairment (Bai & Yu, 2021). Interestingly, cancer patients given psychoeducation on treatment specific cognitive impairments were more likely to report cognitive complaints after treatment (Schagen et al., 2012), indicating that CRCI has a diagnosis threat, also present in other encephalopathies (Carter-Allison et al., 2016; Farrer & Cook, 2021).

Living with cancer is reported to impact self-efficacy, as patients are often dependent on family/carers and healthcare professionals whilst receiving treatment (Maeir et al., 2022). Weaving in a transdiagnostic perspective, reduced self-efficacy has been well-documented as a premorbid factor of declining cognition in the elderly, as well as individuals with MCI and neurodegenerative disorders (Beaudoin, 2018; Tonga et al., 2020). Whilst still sparse, research indicates self-efficacy to have a role in CRCI (Bains et al., 2012; King & Green, 2015; Maeir et al., 2022). Existential factors associated with terminal illnesses influence patient quality of life, mood, optimism, personality, motivation, and even convalescence; such existential factors include purpose of life, death anxiety, feeling burdensome, demoralisation, and remorse around missed opportunities (Cohen et al., 2019; Kouhpas et al., 2020; Ownsworth & Nash, 2015; Philipp et al., 2021; Sharp et al., 2018). In particular, demoralisation has been associated with memory and concentration impairments in cancer and other terminal illnesses (Robinson et al., 2015); and death anxiety has been associated with perceived cognitive impairment in advanced cancer patients (Eggen et al., 2020). Existential factors have largely been studied in advanced stage cancer and have become a target for palliative care, and, despite the improved survivability of cancer, these existential factors may still be present in most, if not all, cancer patients; as such, exploration in wider cancer populations has been recommended to improve the lives of all cancer patients (Sharp et al., 2018).

The psychosocial factors reviewed, along with the cognitive impairments, have been associated with poorer life outcomes including worsened quality of life, reintegration into employment/education, and ability to perform daily activities such as reading and driving (Wefel et al., 2015; Williams et al., 2016). Furthermore, this amalgamation of cognitive, psychosocial, and affective dysfunctions can impede adherence to cancer treatment regimens and can even impede survivability – emphasising the need for CRCI research (Hshieh et al., 2018). After considering the numerous potential mechanistic pathways, varying risk/protective, subjective differences in experience, and the overall complexity of CRCI, it follows that CRCI may be largely heterogenous, both in aetiology and presentation, much like cancer itself. Such heterogeneity could partially account for conflicting findings in previous studies, which have largely endeavoured to statically define and operationalise CRCI. To address this limitation in past research, it may be useful to conceptualise CRCI as a broad cluster of cancer-related symptomologies and aetiologies eventuating in cognitive dysfunction, perceived or otherwise, instead of a unidimensional disorder. **Intervention and Treatment**

The uncertainty around the precise underlying mechanisms, and the extent and nature of debilitation, associated with CRCI have impeded the development of potentially efficacious interventions, and standardisation thereof. Preliminary studies have trialled pharmacological interventions, such as psychostimulants and anti-inflammatories, and nonpharmacological interventions, such as physical exercise, psychotherapy, and cognitive-behavioural therapy (Bai & Yu, 2021; Chao et al., 2021). The conclusions drawn from these studies were largely conflicting, likely due to the heterogeneity of CRCI. However, clinical trials with similar biopsychopathologies (e.g., early-stage Alzheimer's disease) and recent CRCI meta-analyses/systematic reviews indicate that cognitive training may be a promising nonpharmacological intervention (e.g., Cheng et al., 2022; Fernandes et al., 2019; Kallio et al., 2017; Kang et al., 2019; Von Ah & Crouch, 2020; Zeng et al., 2020).

Cognitive Training

The rehabilitation process of cognitive training involves training cognitive functions; this achieved by having the patient routinely complete sufficiently challenging, but not overwhelming, paper or computerbased cognitive tasks (Fernandes et al., 2019). In CRCI patients, interventions comprised of distributed cognitive training sessions, for as few as 10 total hours, have been reported to elicit significant improvements in processing speed, memory, subjective cognitive performance, and even psychosocial/affective factors (Fernandes et al., 2019; Von Ah et al., 2012; Wefel et al., 2015). Reflecting the earlier discussed notion that cognitive domains are intertwined and demarcating them is somewhat arbitrary, trials assessing improvements in individual cognitive domains have found that a global battery of tasks is equally, if not more, effective, when compared to interventions targeting individual impaired domains (Zhang et al., 2019). That is, participants with single domain impairments show greater improvement and longer interventional



efficacy maintenance when engaging in multiple cognitive tasks across varying domains (i.e., a global battery), than with domain-specific interventions (Cheng et al., 2012; Hong et al., 2021; Zhang et al., 2019). In the context of CRCI and other MCI, overall training of major cognitive functions can also elicit neurocognitive and psychosocial improvements in domains not specifically targeted by the intervention (Cheng et al., 2022; Fernandes et al., 2019). The theorised biophysiological mechanism underlying cognitive training is the stimulation of neuroplasticity – a process intricately linked with neurogenesis, the mechanistic pathway of interest within the proposed study (Wei et al., 2022).

Computerised cognitive training has a growing evidence base indicating comparable efficacy to the original pen and paper based methods (Binarelli et al., 2021; Faria et al., 2019). An intervention modality that can be engaged with from home is beneficial for immunocompromised individuals with limited energy, as it obfuscates the additional toll associated with visiting clinics for practitioner-based interventions, such as psychotherapy. Given the multiple taxing health appointments associated with cancer treatment, ancillary healthcare is given second priority, often falling to the wayside during difficult weeks, effectively limiting adherence and efficacy; as such, minimising the burden on cancer patients is imperative. With the increasing reliance on telehealth, Binarelli et al., 2021 describes computerised modalities as practical and economical to implement, facilitating accessibility to patients who are geographically isolated, have financial/logistical difficulties, and/or have special needs. Furthermore, amidst COVID-19, researchers and practitioners have relied upon computerised methods to conduct investigations and deliver interventions (Thulesius, 2020). The benefits of such methods include automatised adjustment of task difficulty to match participant abilities; standardised administration; minimised errors/biases to which clinician administrations are susceptible; and reducing researcher/health professional workload and pressure (Binarelli et al., 2021; Thulesius, 2020).

A recent systemic review of cognitive training in CRCI noted a marked scarcity in blinded trials with control groups – gold standards when assessing therapeutic efficacy (Fernandes et al., 2019). Wefel et al. (2015) recommends ensuring sufficient differentiation between cognitive training tasks and neurocognitive outcome assessments, as to mitigate practice effects; similarly, computer tasks are recommended to maintain an adequate degree of transferability to day-to-day life tasks, so that the intervention efficacy can be preserved across daily functioning. Lastly, it has been well-documented that intervention adherence is optimised by simpler regimens, such as administration at regular intervals (Ingersoll & Cohen, 2008; Jimmy & Jose, 2011. Integrating recommendations from literature, the proposed research will assess cognitive training efficacy by conducting a blinded, randomised control trial with a control group; the intervention will be a computerised, global battery, with sufficient dissimilarity from the objective cognitive assessments, and adequate transferability to daily tasks.

Rationale and Significance

This brief review seeks to highlight key theorised pathways and the gaps in literature. Two lines of justification for the proposed research can be drawn: i) CRCI is associated with poorer life outcomes, and may even impede patient recovery, and ii) CRCI likely involves neurobiological and psychocognitive factors, indicating a need for an interdisciplinary approach in research and oncology care. As previously stated, the proposed mechanisms potentially associated with CRCI are not necessarily mutually exclusive. It is likely CRCI has multiple aetiologies varying in type and degree of contributing mechanisms. Whilst such proposed mechanisms of cognitive dysfunction have been somewhat explored individually, there is limited investigation into how these paradigms intersect, and, indeed, how to interpret the resultant integrated profiles. Few studies have integrated biophysiological and the neuropsychological findings, with many giving precedence to the role of therapeutic agents and objective neuropsychological assessments – with little regard for individual experience. As such, this study will endeavour to create a more holistic profile of CRCI, which will likely yield greater translational benefit to people living with cancer.

The proposed research will address gaps in the current literature, by using machine learning to disentangle the complex relationship of neurobiological, psychocognitive, demographic, and medical history factors, as well as how these factors may influence computerised cognitive interventional efficacy. Machine learning and non-parametric/non-linear statistical modelling have been advocated for in cancer and CRCI research, as they can better model complex relationships than standard regressions (Cheng et al., 2021; Henneghan et al., 2020). To the best of the researchers' knowledge, the proposed research will be the first study to use sophisticated machine learning to explore CRCI and neurogenesis. The current existing studies of this ilk, found using Boolean search techniques, were primarily focussed on proinflammatory cytokines, $A\beta$ plaques, genetic polymorphisms, neuroanatomy, single nucleotide polymorphisms, or tumour histopathology (Chen, Lin, et al., 2020; Henneghan et al., 2018, 2019, 2020; Kesler et al., 2017, 2020;



Sharafeldin et al., 2020; Zhou et al., 2021). This study will focus on the neurogenesis pathway, coupled with the novel machine learning methodology proposed, as i) it is relatively unexplored; ii) cognitive training is theorised to function by improving neuroplasticity and neurogenesis; and iii) this approach will most effectively contribute to the fields of CRCI research, machine learning, and oncology care, within the constraints of a PhD project. This investigation will provide evidence to potentially inform screening criteria for patients at risk of CRCI, which can be assessed quickly and economically (i.e., blood tests, demographics, medical history) by oncology care providers. The second part of the proposed research will investigate the efficacy of cognitive training for CRCI, implemented through a computerised modality.

Hypotheses

- 1. It is hypothesised a combination of the assessed neurogenesis, biological, psychosocial, demographic, and/or medical history factors can significantly predict variance in impaired cognition within this study's sample, and that the pertinent machine learning model will have significant predictive utility in risk stratification of CRCI.
- 2. It is hypothesised the cognitive training group will show greater improvements in cognitive, psychosocial, and BDNF factors than the baseline and the control group post-intervention.
- 3. It is hypothesised this study will identify factors for oncology care providers to assess when screening for CRCI.

Methodology of Stage I

Research Design

Stage I will explore the relationships between neurobiological, psychocognitive, demographic, and medical history variables in cancer patients undergoing treatment and noncancer demographic-matched controls. A cross-sectional design will be used to collect in person data for the cognitive/psychosocial battery and by drawing peripheral blood for the biomarkers. All participants will complete all assessments. Participation in this stage is expected to take 90-120 minutes.

Participants and Recruitment

Inclusion criteria require participants to be aged over 18 years old, currently live in Perth and Peel regions of Western Australia (or be willing/able to attend Curtin University for appointment(s)), have been diagnosed with non-CNS cancer, be currently undergoing a form of cancer treatment (excludes palliative and treatment-naive patients), and have a working proficiency of the English language. Exclusion criteria preclude participation of individuals with premorbid clinical psychological/psychiatric issues; primary CNS and/or metastases; enrolment in other trials (some exceptions); and pregnancy (Henneghan et al., 2020; Lambert et al., 2018; Zhou et al., 2021). To provide a comparative baseline across assessments, 20-25% of our sample will consist of healthy controls that meet all other inclusion criteria but are cancer-naïve. Recruitment material will encourage cancer patients with AND without cognitive complaints to participate. These decisions were informed by past literature which recommend exposing the model/algorithm to the potential range of CRCI - from normal cognitive functioning to more severe levels of impairment - as to augment predictive utility (Chen, Zhang, et al., 2020; Henneghan et al., 2020; Wefel et al., 2015).

Exceptions to the enrolment in other trials exclusion criterion may be made if the other trial is researching variables the current study is not investigating; e.g., direct cancer treatment, cross-sectional surveys, diabetes blood tests. Eligibility of interested participants enrolled in another trial will be considered on case-by-case basis. The exclusion of participants with premorbid psychological / psychiatric / neurodegenerative conditions will allow researchers to ascertain with a relative degree of confidence that observed cognitive impairments are likely CRCIs. This exclusion criteria will be implemented in the screening phone call by directly asking the potential participant whether they have been diagnosed with the aforementioned. Premorbidities without overt diagnostic implication of cognition will not be grounds for participant exclusion; e.g., mild to moderate mood/affective disorders, ADHD, eating disorders. Premorbidities that directly compromise cognition and neuropsychological functioning will be considered grounds for study exclusion: e.g., dementia/Alzheimer's, frank intellectual disabilities, moderate-severe traumatic brain injuries. These decisions shall be made by the doctoral candidate based on past literature and on a case-by-case basis; should there be uncertainty regarding participant eligibility, the doctoral candidate shall consult with the other researchers.

Although the proposed analyses (detailed further on) are mostly non-parametric, a sufficiently large sample in Stage I is necessary to recruit eligible participants for Stage II, thereby ensuring adequate

statistical power to assess interventional efficacy. As such, Stage I aims to recruit 180 participants, which includes an additional 20% to pre-emptively mitigate potential attrition effects ($150 \times 1.2 = 180$; Hopkin et al., 2015); of this 180, 35-45 participants will be healthy controls, and the remainder will be diagnosed with cancer. Data collection will cease if 250 participants are recruited, in order to preserve ethical integrity. Recruitment will involve convenience and snowball sampling through various cancer organisations (e.g., Cancer Council WA, Solaris Care, Breast Cancer WA), colleagues/networks, social media, flyers, newsletters, and possibly a press release through local radio channels.

Materials

Unless otherwise stated, the selected cognitive and psychosocial measures have been adequately validated for use with cancer patients and in samples demographically similar to the one proposed in this study (e.g., age, sex, ethnicity/country of residence); as such, the references and psychometrics provided in the descriptions (see Appendix B and C) have largely been drawn from studies using similar samples. *Cognitive Measures*

The planned objective cognitive measures are the: Australian National Adult Reading Task (AUSNART); Hopkins Verbal Learning Task (HVLT); Paced Auditory Serial Addition Task (PASA)

(AUSNART); Hopkins Verbal Learning Task (HVLT); Paced Auditory Serial Addition Task (PASAT); Trail Making Task (TMT); Controlled Oral Word Association Task (COWAT); Stroop Task; and Star Cancellation Test (only if left neglect is suspected). Note that this battery includes the gold standard neuropsychological tests recommended by the International Cognition and Cancer Taskforce (ICCTF) for CRCI assessment (Wefel et al., 2011) The planned subjective cognitive assessment is the Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy (FACT-Cog). See Appendix B for further detail.

Psychosocial Measures

The planned psychosocial measures are the: Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9); General Anxiety Disorder-7 (GAD-7); Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI); McGill Quality of Life Questionnaire – Expanded (MQOL-E); McGill Pain Questionnaire–Short Form (MPQ-SF); Death and Dying Distress Scale (DADDS); Demoralisation Scale-II (DS-II); and New General Self-Efficacy Scale (NGSE). These are self-report, involving respondents' subjective appraisal of their own lives. See Appendix C for further detail. *Demographics and Medical History*

The planned demographic items will cover sex, age, ethnicity, employment status, marital status, highest education level, exercise habits, current height/weight, and personal contact information. The planned medical history items will cover premorbidities, comorbidities, current health conditions, and cancer histology/stage/receptor status. The planned treatment regimen items will include type of cancer treatment, therapeutic agent composition, neurotoxicity, BBB permeability, and adjunct medications. Much of this information will be obtained by participants requesting a full medical history from their general practitioner. This information will be obtained before/at the first assessment.

Blood Biomarkers

The types of blood biomarkers assessed will be plasma BDNF levels and *APOE* polymorphisms, collected with 3 x 10ml EDTA tubes. Immunoassays will be used to analyse these biomarkers; the researchers are currently in the process of liaising with suppliers and Curtin Health Innovation Research Institute (CHIRI), so specific assay brands/types are yet to be determined.

Procedure

Upon ethical approval, potential participants who have registered interest will first be contacted by phone call; this will serve as an information exchange and screening procedure. From here, eligible and interested participants will be sent an email with the information sheet and will be scheduled in for the first appointment. In both communications, participants will be clearly requested to obtain their current medical history from their treating practitioner, and provide this documentation to the researchers before/at the first appointment. Data collection will be conducted by the researcher in the CHIRI laboratories. To prevent administrator fatigue, the primary researcher will schedule no more than four participants a day.

Upon arrival to the testing facilities, participants will be greeted. Once identity is confirmed, informed consent will be obtained, followed by demographics and height/weight. Next, the neuropsychological battery will be administered in the following order: AUSNART, HVLT-R, PASAT, TMT, COWAT, Stroop Task; FACT-Cog, PHQ-9, GAD-7, PSQI, MQOL-E, MPQ-SF, DADDS, DS-II, and NGSE. If left neglect is suspected, the Star Cancellation Test will be administered as soon as possible. The verbal response questions will be audio recorded for validity and double-scoring. The cognitive measures and psychosocial measures will be separated by a scheduled break; other breaks will be taken as needed, where appropriate. Peripheral blood will be drawn at the end of the battery. Participation is expected to take

approximately 90-120 minutes. At the end of this, participants will be debriefed and given an opportunity to ask questions and make comments; the cancer patients will also be reminded to monitor their communications for information about Stage II.

Methodology of Stage II

Research Design

Stage II involves a double-blinded, randomised control trial (RCT) and a follow up assessment. Stage I data will provide a pre-intervention baseline to assess the efficacy of cognitive training. The proposed research has been designed to allow participants to progress through the stages of each study individually, thereby completing baseline assessments, the intervention, post-intervention assessments, and the follow up assessment following their own timeline. If time and resources allow, a three-month follow up will be conducted to assess maintenance effects of the cognitive training. This assessment will use the same variables and measures as Stage I and II.

Participants and Recruitment

Around 60-100 participants with cancer and evident cognitive impairment will be recruited from Stage I. Aligned with recommendations from past literature, inclusion criteria require participants that demonstrate CRCI, on objective, self-reported, or both measures, so intervention efficacy can be adequately assessed (Lambert et al., 2018; Von Ah et al., 2012). The Stage I participant information sheet for cancer patients explicates that involvement in the first stage may transpire to involvement in Stage II.

Participants invited to take part in Stage II will have cancer, access to and ability to use a phone/tablet/computer with internet for six weeks, and will demonstrate cognitive impairment, operationalised by scores meeting one or more of the following criteria (Vardy et al., 2007; Wefel et al., 2011): scores ≥ 1.5 SD below the norm on two or more objective cognitive measures; scores ≥ 2 SD below the norm on one or more objective cognitive measures; Global Deficit Score (GDS) ≥ 0.5 points. GDS = mean of deficit scores (which are converted from T scores). A GDS of 0.5 or greater indicates the mean of the objective cognitive measure scores is ≥ 1 SD below the norm. Note that "norm" means demographic matched normative scores from neuropsychological compendium.

Should the SD cutoffs for objective cognitive impairment be deemed as overly restrictive during early data collection, then the eligibility criteria for Stage II will be broadened by 0.5SDs. That is, participants would be eligible if they met one of the following adjusted criteria: scores ≥ 1.0 SD below the norm on two or more objective cognitive measures; or score of ≥ 1.5 SD below the norm on one or more objective cognitive measures. This contingency has been partially guided by Sherman et al. (2023). If necessitated, subjective impairment will also be considered; evidence thereof will be identified through FACT-Cog Perceived Cognitive Impairment (18-item) subscale scores < 54 (Dyk et al., 2020). Materials

A validated and extensively used computerised cognitive training programme (Cognifit) will be piloted for use in managing CRCI in this study (McCallum & Boletsis, 2013). Stage II post-intervention measures and laboratory equipment will mirror that of Stage I. An additional measure assessing acceptability of intervention will also be administered (Sekhon et al., 2022); the generic Theoretical Framework of Acceptability (TFA) has been adapted for cognitive training in CRCI by the doctoral candidate. **Procedure**

Eligible participants will be allocated into either the intervention or control group, using computerised random allocation. If needed, randomisation may be subject to stratification of certain variables. Participants and the researcher will be blinded to group assignment to maximise research validity (Fernandes et al., 2019). The procedure for participants entails completing brain training tasks. The task difficulty will be tailored by the programme software to each individual participant, in order to be sufficiently challenging but not overwhelming. This is to facilitate yield of optimal cognitive benefit. The tailoring of the difficulty is done automatically by the programme throughout each training session. Cognitive training tasks may include (but are not limited to): puzzles, games, word problems. The cognitive training will be a global battery of tasks, with stimulated domains including (but not limited to) memory, attention, executive function, and processing speed. This intervention is self-administered with reminders. The doctoral candidate leading the study will provide information on use to participants. Each participant will follow their own timeline. The intervention will be delivered across six weeks, with a minimum of 4 daily administrations per week; each session will be a minimum of 20 minutes. The base requirement is that participants must complete a minimum of 120 minutes of training per week - i.e., 720 minutes / 12 hours of



training across the six weeks. To clarify, the additional requirements are that the weekly 120 minutes must be completed across four or more training sessions, and each session should be a minimum of 20 minutes. However, note that four sessions of 20 minutes do not actually meet the minimum weekly 120 minutes - they merely form the minimum training parameters. The actual duration of each session will depend on total weekly number of sessions. There is no maximum amount of training. Each participant will be asked to complete the training in their own home at whichever times best suit them, so long as the minimum 12 hours of training is achieved, in the required weekly increments. Additionally, a CogniFit General Cognitive Assessment (30 min) will be completed at the start and end of the six weeks; this is an in house tool is required for the programme to calibrate and evaluate the participants' training. Intervention adherence and fidelity will be assessed by the doctoral candidate. The daily reminders will help minimise attrition. Within a week of the intervention period ending (ideally), participants will attend the clinic once more to complete the neuropsychological battery and blood collection, mirroring that of Stage I. After this, participants will be debriefed to their allocation. Given the double-blind, the participants cannot be unblinded until data collection has been completed.

Proposed Data Analysis

Data collection will cease once 250 participants' data have been collected for Stage I. Neuropsychological, demographic/medical, and biomarker data will be digitised as soon as feasible. Data will also be analysed intermittently to identify and address potential issues. On R Studio, datasets will be screened for missing/anomalous data. Scores on psychocognitive scores will be reverse coded as needed, and potentially standardised to facilitate inter-scale comparisons. Descriptive statistics and correlations between all items and factors will be conducted and reported, with associations of clinical significance highlighted.

Several composite, "manifest" variables will be created, across distinct levels of magnification. This will first be attempted through theory driven confirmatory factor analysis; if interpretation of these results is difficult, then exploratory factor analyses will be conducted to extract factors specific to this study's data. Such an eventuality is more pertinent for psychocognitive variables, in which the distinction between domains and factors is a little more arbitrary; the use of extracted factors in lieu of theoretical ones is commonplace in CRCI research and is supported by meta-analyses and reviews (Cheung et al., 2013; Lambert et al., 2018; Yang & Hendrix, 2018). There are advantages and disadvantages of both types of factor analysis; the factor structure(s) for psychocognitive variables will be determined by range of criteria, before being used in the main analyses. Regardless of chosen factor structure, internal consistency will be analysed and reported through Cronbach's α values. The final set of factors account for the most amount of variance in cognitive measures, without compromising interpretability of results. For the gold standard tests recommended by the ICCTF, scores of each cognitive measure are generally compiled to create a Global Deficit Score (GDS), described as "an actuarial approach that applies weight to below-average scores in the battery" (Chao et al., 2021; Vardy et al., 2007). The GDS is more sensitive at detecting MCI and also mitigates type II error rate. The decision to use a GDS will be determined later by the data.

To disentangle the complex relationships within CRCI, meta-analyses advocate for sophisticated statistical modelling and machine learning (Santos & Pyter, 2018; Seigers & Fardell, 2011; Wefel et al., 2015). As such, the proposed research will conduct three different algorithms for the main analysis, and the model that most validly represents the data for each study will be selected. It is not uncommon to test models against each other in machine learning research; this method has also been adopted by CRCI studies (e.g., Zhou et al., 2021). The proposed models are random forest regression (RFR), support vector machine (SVM), and least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) logistic regression. To provide comparative benchmarks, basic logistic/hierarchical regressions will be run with variables mirroring the ones evinced as significant by the machine learning counterparts. The predictive utility of the machine learning models will be assessed by comparing error rate when testing the validation sample, as well as percentage of variance accounted for in outcome variable. The training/validation split will be the conventional 80/20. Treatment efficacy will be assessed more simply with ANOVAs or similar. If the intervention task cannot be sufficiently differentiated from cognitive battery, researchers may statistically adjust assessment scores for practice effects: e.g., Reliable Change Index (Erlanger et al., 2002). The open-ended questions in the TFA assessing participant experience with the intervention (in the form of a brief semi-structured interview) will be subject to a content analysis.



Ethical Considerations

This research shall be conducted in accordance with the National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research as delineated by the National Health and Medical Research Committee (NHMRC). Upon acceptance of candidature, the researchers shall apply for ethical approval from Curtin University. To mitigate risk of infectious disease transmission, basic hygiene and safety protocols will be followed when administering assessments in person (e.g., sanitising testing facility after each use; wearing personal protective equipment if needed). Whilst multiple meta-analyses of RCTs have reported that no adverse events occurred directly resultant of the neuropsychological interventions, including cognitive training (Cheng et al., 2022; Zeng et al., 2016, 2020), eliciting distress is always a possibility with psychological research. As such, relevant resources will be provided in debriefing material (e.g., contact details of Cancer Council, Lifeline, Solaris Care). The researchers have been, and will continue, consulting with a breast cancer survivor who has lived experience with CRCI, in order to: field test the questionnaire/assessment; identify and incorporate respectful/appropriate language; discern areas to minimise cognitive loads on participants; and, in general, endeavour to optimise the participation experience for participants with cancer. Although participation cannot be anonymised, researchers will preserve confidentiality where possible, and all information will be deidentified before writeup. Hardcopy data will be stored under lock and key in restricted access facilities. Electronic data will be stored on encrypted software, devices, and the Curtin Research Drive, accessible only to researchers, parties involved in data collection, and relevant persons if an audit trail is required. Furthermore, the primary researcher has been and will continue to maintain a reflexive journal, which shall include reflection upon ethical decisions, and will also provide documentation if an audit trail is necessitated.

Cognitive, psychosocial, and genetic testing may reveal important health information. In the PICF, participants will need to consent to their treating practitioner(s) to receive pertinent health information, regarding their APOE genotype, as well as results of cognitive and psychosocial measures. This section of the PICF will be highlighted and clarified verbally by the researcher as needed. Participants withholding consent thereof will be disincluded. Delivery of information to practitioner(s) will be thorough, comprehensive, and will use general practice friendly language, with the intention of minimising potential harm, stigma, misinformation, and misinterpretation. The difference between research and clinical testing will be stressed; namely, that the scope of research testing is not diagnostic, and that there may be a need for follow up clinical testing. Participants will NOT receive raw health information directly from researchers, unless in the case of an emergency. This protocol has been developed in accordance with the National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research – particularly Section 3.3 (NHMRC, 2018).

To mitigate adverse effects of possible diagnosis threat, the intervention/placebo material will emphasise the need to continue cancer treatment and following oncology care provider advice. As the cognitive training is hypothesised to benefit the target population, control group participants may be offered the intervention (if it yields significant improvement), after their participation in Stage II, in order to maintain equity and justice. Although unlikely, contingencies for breaking the blind will be in place on the off chance the intervention yields significant, *life-altering* improvements, in which case withholding the intervention until the end of trials would be unethical. The occurrence of a health emergency necessitates the primary physician to be aware of all treatments the participant is receiving; certain, improbable situations may necessitate breaking the blind, and informing the participant and treating physician of the intervention. To ensure expedient transfer of information, each form of communication to the participant will have emergency numbers of the researchers to contact (NHMRC, 2016). Overall, the researchers will endeavour to minimise/eliminate any undue distress or strain for participants.

Facilities and Resources

This study will use CHIRI, School of Population Health, School of Medicine, and other Curtin facilities, rooms, laboratories, software, hardware, and infrastructure. Laboratory consumables are anticipated to be the largest expense. The PhD researcher's personal computer will be used for most data analysis. This PhD will be a hybrid thesis by publication. Five publications are planned (see Appendix D for descriptions and target journals). The final thesis will be a compilation of those papers.



References

- Ahles, T. A., Root, J. C., & Ryan, E. L. (2012). Cancer-and cancer treatment–associated cognitive change: An update on the state of the science. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 30(30), 3675. https://doi.org/10.1200%2FJCO.2012.43.0116
- Akman, T., Yavuzsen, T., Sevgen, Z., Ellidokuz, H., & Yilmaz, A. U. (2015). Evaluation of sleep disorders in cancer patients based on Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index. *European Journal of Cancer Care*, 24(4), 553-559. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecc.12296
- Alkabban, F. M., & Ferguson, T. (2020). Breast Cancer. Treasure Island FL.
- Amidi, A., & Wu, L. M. (2019). Structural brain alterations following adult non-CNS cancers: A systematic review of the neuroimaging literature. *Acta Oncologica*, 58(5), 522-536. https://doi.org/10.1080%2F0284186X.2018.1563716
- Anand, K. S., & Dhikav, V. (2012). Hippocampus in health and disease: An overview. *Annals of Indian Academy of Neurology*, 15(4), 239. https://doi.org/10.4103%2F0972-2327.104323
- Arokiaraj, A. S., Khairudin, R., & Wan, W. S. (2020). The impact of a computerized cognitive training on healthy older adults: A systematic review focused on processing speed and attention. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 10(11), 645-685. http://doi.org/10.6007/IJARBSS/v10-i11/7647
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2021). Cancer in Australia 2021. Cancer Series, 133, 1-192. https://doi.org/10.25816/ye05-nm50
- Baek, M. S., Cho, H., Lee, H. S., Lee, J. H., Ryu, Y. H., & Lyoo, C. H. (2020). Effect of APOE ε4 genotype on amyloid-β and tau accumulation in Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's Research & Therapy*, *12*(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13195-020-00710-6
- Bagnall-Moreau, C., Chaudhry, S., Salas-Ramirez, K., Ahles, T., & Hubbard, K. (2019). Chemotherapyinduced cognitive impairment is associated with increased inflammation and oxidative damage in the hippocampus. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 56(10), 7159-7172. https://doi.org/10.1007%2Fs12035-019-1589-z
- Bai, L., & Yu, E. (2021). A narrative review of risk factors and interventions for cancer-related cognitive impairment. Annals of Translational Medicine, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.21037/atm-20-6443
- Bains, M., Munir, F., Yarker, J., Bowley, D., Thomas, A., Armitage, N., & Steward, W. (2012). The impact of colorectal cancer and self-efficacy beliefs on work ability and employment status: A longitudinal study. *European Journal of Cancer Care*, 21(5), 634-641. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2354.2012.01335.x
- Baker, L. M., Laidlaw, D. H., Cabeen, R., Akbudak, E., Conturo, T. E., Correia, S., Tate, D. F., Heaps-Woodruff, J. M., Brier, M. R., Bolzenius, J., Salminen, L. E., Lane, E. M., McMichael, A. R., & Paul, R. H. (2017). Cognitive reserve moderates the relationship between neuropsychological performance and white matter fiber bundle length in healthy older adults. *Brain Imaging and Behavior*, 11(3), 632-639. https://doi.org/10.1007%2Fs11682-016-9540-7
- Beaudoin, M. (2018). Memory performance in older adults: Experimental evidence for the indirect effect of memory self-efficacy on processing efficiency through worry. *Motivation and Emotion*, 42(6), 885-895. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-018-9703-5
- Binarelli, G., Joly, F., Tron, L., Lefevre Arbogast, S., & Lange, M. (2021). Management of cancer-related cognitive impairment: A systematic review of computerized cognitive stimulation and computerized physical activity. *Cancers*, 13(20), 5161. https://doi.org/10.3390%2Fcancers13205161
- Boakye, D., Jansen, L., Schoettker, B., Jansen, E. H., Schneider, M., Halama, N., Gao, X., Chang-Claude, J., Hoffmeister, M., & Brenner, H. (2020). Blood markers of oxidative stress are strongly associated with poorer prognosis in colorectal cancer patients. *International Journal of Cancer*, 147(9), 2373-2386. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.33018
- Bonelli, R. M., & Cummings, J. L. (2007). Frontal-subcortical circuitry and behavior. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 9(2), 141. https://doi.org/10.31887/DCNS.2007.9.2/rbonelli
- Bonelli, R. M., & Cummings, J. L. (2008). Frontal-subcortical dementias. *The Neurologist*, 14(2), 100-107. https://doi.org/10.1097/nrl.0b013e31815b0de2



- Brewster, K. K., Shalev, D., & Levenson, J. A. (2017). Chemotherapy-related cognitive impairment # 342. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, 20(12), 1407-1408. https://doi.org/10.1089%2Fjpm.2017.0524
- Buskbjerg, C. D., Amidi, A., Demontis, D., Nissen, E. R., & Zachariae, R. (2019). Genetic risk factors for cancer-related cognitive impairment: A systematic review. *Acta Oncologica*, 58(5), 537-547. https://doi.org/10.1080/0284186X.2019.1578410
- Buysse, D. J., Reynolds III, C. F., Monk, T. H., Berman, S. R., & Kupfer, D. J. (1989). The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: A new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. *Psychiatry Research*, 28(2), 193-213. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-1781(89)90047-4
- Carreira, H., Williams, R., Müller, M., Harewood, R., Stanway, S., & Bhaskaran, K. (2018). Associations between breast cancer survivorship and adverse mental health outcomes: A systematic review. *JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, *112*(1), 1311-1327. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djy177
- Carter-Allison, S. N., Potter, S., & Rimes, K. (2016). Diagnosis threat and injury beliefs after mild traumatic brain injury. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, 31(7), 727-737. https://doi.org/10.1093/arclin/acw062
- Casaletto, K. B., Cattie, J., Franklin, D. R., Moore, D. J., Woods, S. P., Grant, I., Heaton, R. K., & HNRP Group. (2014). The Wide Range Achievement Test–4 reading subtest "holds" in HIV-infected individuals. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 36(9), 992-1001.
- Chao, D., Hale, A., Henry, N. L., Kratz, A. L., & Gabel, N. M. (2021). Cancer-related cognitive impairment or "chemobrain:" Emerging assessments, treatments, and targets for intervention. *Current Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Reports*, 9(3), 108-118. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40141-021-00319-2
- Chen, G., Gully, S. M., & Eden, D. (2001). Validation of a new general self-efficacy scale. Organizational Research Methods, 4(1), 62– 83. https://doi.org/10.1177/109442810141004
- Chen, M., Zhang, Z., Shen, J., Deng, Z., He, J., & Huang, S. (2020). A quantitative investment model based on random forest and sentiment analysis. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1575(1), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1575/1/012083
- Chen, V. C. H., Lin, T. Y., Yeh, D. C., Chai, J. W., & Weng, J. C. (2020). Functional and structural connectome features for machine learning chemo-brain prediction in women treated for breast cancer with chemotherapy. *Brain Sciences*, 10(11), 851. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci10110851
- Chen, Y. R., Liang, C. S., Chu, H., Voss, J., Kang, X. L., O'Connell, G., Jen, H. -J., Hsiao, S. -T. S., & Chou, K. R. (2021). Diagnostic accuracy of blood biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease and amnestic mild cognitive impairment: A meta-analysis. *Ageing Research Reviews*, 71, 101446. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2021.101446
- Cheng, A. S., Guan, Q., Su, Y., Zhou, P., & Zeng, Y. (2021). Integration of machine learning and blockchain technology in the healthcare field: A literature review and implications for cancer care. Asia-Pacific Journal of Oncology Nursing, 8(6), 720-724. http://doi.org/10.4103/apjon.apjon-2140
- Cheng, A. S., Wang, X., Niu, N., Liang, M., & Zeng, Y. (2022). Neuropsychological interventions for cancer-related cognitive impairment: A network meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Neuropsychology Review*, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11065-021-09532-1
- Cheung, Y. T., Lim, S. R., Ho, H. K., & Chan, A. (2013). Cytokines as mediators of chemotherapyassociated cognitive changes: Current evidence, limitations and directions for future research. *PloS One*, 8(12), e81234. https://doi.org/10.1371%2Fjournal.pone.0081234
- Chiba, T., Marusawa, H., & Ushijima, T. (2012). Inflammation-associated cancer development in digestive organs: Mechanisms and roles for genetic and epigenetic modulation. *Gastroenterology*, 143(3), 550-563. https://doi.org/10.1053%2Fj.gastro.2012.07.009
- Clover, K., Lambert, S. D., Oldmeadow, C., Britton, B., King, M. T., Mitchell, A. J., & Carter, G. L. (2020). Apples to apples? Comparison of the measurement properties of hospital anxiety and depressionanxiety subscale (HADS-A), depression, anxiety and stress scale-anxiety subscale (DASS-A), and generalised anxiety disorder (GAD-7) scale in an oncology setting using Rasch analysis and diagnostic accuracy statistics. *Current Psychology*, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-020-00906x



- Cohen, S. R., Mount, B. M., Strobel, M. G., & Bui, F. (1995). The McGill Quality of Life Questionnaire: A measure of quality of life appropriate for people with advanced disease. A preliminary study of validity and acceptability. *Palliative Medicine*, 9(3), 207-219. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F026921639500900306
- Cohen, S. R., Mount, B. M., Tomas, J. J., & Mount, L. F. (1996). Existential well-being is an important determinant of quality of life: Evidence from the McGill quality of life questionnaire. *Cancer: Interdisciplinary International Journal of the American Cancer Society*, 77(3), 576-586. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0142(19960201)77:3%3C576::AID-CNCR22%3E3.0.CO;2-0
- Cohen, S. R., Russell, L. B., Leis, A., Shahidi, J., Porterfield, P., Kuhl, D. R., Gadermann, A. M., & Sawatzky, R. (2019). More comprehensively measuring quality of life in life-threatening illness: The McGill quality of life questionnaire–expanded. *BMC Palliative Care*, 18(1), 1-11.
- Cole, P. D., Finkelstein, Y., Stevenson, K. E., Blonquist, T. M., Vijayanathan, V., Silverman, L. B., Neuberg, D. S., Sallan, S. E., Robaey, P., & Waber, D. P. (2015). Polymorphisms in genes related to oxidative stress are associated with inferior cognitive function after therapy for childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 33(19), 2205. http://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2014.59.0273
- Collins, B., MacKenzie, J., Tasca, G. A., Scherling, C., & Smith, A. (2014). Persistent cognitive changes in breast cancer patients 1 year following completion of chemotherapy. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 20(4), 370-379. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617713001215
- Craig, C. D., Monk, B. J., Farley, J. H., & Chase, D. M. (2014). Cognitive impairment in gynecologic cancers: A systematic review of current approaches to diagnosis and treatment. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 22(1), 279-287. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-013-2029-7
- Darlix, A., Hirtz, C., Thezenas, S., Maceski, A., Gabelle, A., Lopez-Crapez, E., De Forges, H., Firmin, N., Guiu, S., Jacot, W., & Lehmann, S. (2019). The prognostic value of the Tau protein serum level in metastatic breast cancer patients and its correlation with brain metastases. *BMC Cancer*, 19(1), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-019-5287-z
- de Souza, J. A., Yap, B. J., Hlubocky, F. J., Wroblewski, K., Ratain, M. J., Cella, D., & Daugherty, C. K. (2014). The development of a financial toxicity patient-reported outcome in cancer: The COST measure. *Cancer*, 120(20), 3245-3253. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.28814
- de Souza, J. A., Yap, B. J., Wroblewski, K., Blinder, V., Araújo, F. S., Hlubocky, F. J., Nicholas, L. H., O'Connor, J. M., Brockstein, B., Ratain, M. J., Daugherty, C. K., & Cella, D. (2017). Measuring financial toxicity as a clinically relevant patient-reported outcome: The validation of the COmprehensive Score for financial Toxicity (COST). *Cancer*, 123(3), 476-484. https://doi.org/10.1002%2Fcncr.30369
- Di Liso, E. (2021). Chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting. Suggestions for Addressing Clinical and Non-Clinical Issues in Palliative Care, 149. http://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.96194
- Díaz-Mardomingo, M. D. C., García-Herranz, S., Rodríguez-Fernández, R., Venero, C., & Peraita, H. (2017). Problems in classifying mild cognitive impairment (MCI): One or multiple syndromes?. *Brain Sciences*, 7(9), 111. https://doi.org/10.3390%2Fbrainsci7090111
- Durber, K., Halkett, G. K., McMullen, M., & Nowak, A. K. (2021). Measuring financial toxicity in Australian cancer patients–Validation of the COmprehensive Score for financial Toxicity (FACT COST) measuring financial toxicity in Australian cancer patients. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 17(4), 377-387. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajco.13508
- Dyk, K. V., Crespi, C. M., Petersen, L., & Ganz, P. A. (2020). Identifying cancer-related cognitive impairment using the FACT-Cog perceived cognitive impairment. *JNCI Cancer Spectrum*, 4(1), pkz099. https://doi.org/10.1093/jncics/pkz099
- Ebaid, D., & Crewther, S. G. (2020). Time for a systems biological approach to cognitive aging?—A critical review. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, *12*, 114. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2020.00114
- Eggen, A. C., Reyners, A. K., Shen, G., Bosma, I., Jalving, M., Leighl, N. B., Liu, G., Richard, N. M., Mah, K., Shultz, D. B., Edelstein, K., & Rodin, G. (2020). Death anxiety in patients with metastatic nonsmall cell lung cancer with and without brain metastases. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, 60(2), 422-429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2020.02.023

- Ercoli, L. M., Castellon, S. A., Hunter, A. M., Kwan, L., Kahn-Mills, B. A., Cernin, P. A., Leuchter, A. F., & Ganz, P. A. (2013). Assessment of the feasibility of a rehabilitation intervention program for breast cancer survivors with cognitive complaints. *Brain Imaging and Behavior*, 7(4), 543-553. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11682-013-9237-0
- Erlanger, D. M., Kaushik, T., Broshek, D., Freeman, J., Feldman, D., & Festa, J. (2002). Development and validation of a web-based screening tool for monitoring cognitive status. *The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, *17*(5), 458-476. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001199-200210000-00007
- Farrer, T. J., & Cook, S. E. (2021). Diagnosis threat related to disclosure of Alzheimer disease biomarkers and a discussion of the ethics in clinical and research settings. In V. Dubljević & F. Bottenberg (Eds.), *Living with Dementia* (pp. 91-107). Springer Nature Switzerland AG. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-62073-8_6
- Feenstra, H. E., Murre, J. M., Vermeulen, I. E., Kieffer, J. M., & Schagen, S. B. (2018). Reliability and validity of a self-administered tool for online neuropsychological testing: The Amsterdam Cognition Scan. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 40(3), 253-273. https://doi.org/10.1080/13803395.2017.1339017
- Feng, Y., & Wang, X. (2017). Systematic analysis of microarray datasets to identify Parkinson's disease-associated pathways and genes. *Molecular Medicine Reports*, 15(3), 1252-1262. https://doi.org/10.3892/mmr.2017.6124
- Fernandes, H. A., Richard, N. M., & Edelstein, K. (2019). Cognitive rehabilitation for cancer-related cognitive dysfunction: A systematic review. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 27(9), 3253-3279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2019.01.012
- Fernandez, H. R., Varma, A., Flowers, S. A., & Rebeck, G. W. (2020). Cancer chemotherapy related cognitive impairment and the impact of the Alzheimer's disease risk factor APOE. Cancers, 12(12), 3842. http://doi.org/10.3390/cancers12123842
- Gonneaud, J., Baria, A. T., Pichet Binette, A., Gordon, B. A., Chhatwal, J. P., Cruchaga, C., ... & Villeneuve, S. (2021). Accelerated functional brain aging in pre-clinical familial Alzheimer's disease. *Nature Communications*, 12(1), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-25492-9
- Greenwood, P. M. (2000). The frontal aging hypothesis evaluated. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 6(6), 705-726. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617700666092
- Gutmann, D. H. (2019). Clearing the fog surrounding chemobrain. *Cell*, 176(1-2), 2-4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.12.027
- Harrington, S. E., Gilchrist, L., Lee, J., Westlake, F. L., & Baker, A. (2018). Oncology section edge task force on cancer: A systematic review of clinical measures for pain. *Rehabilitation Oncology*, 36(2), 83-92. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.REO.000000000000097
- Henneghan, A. (2016). Modifiable factors and cognitive dysfunction in breast cancer survivors: A mixedmethod systematic review. Supportive Care in Cancer, 24(1), 481-497. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-015-2927-y
- Henneghan, A. M., Gibbons, C., Harrison, R. A., Edwards, M. L., Rao, V., Blayney, D. W., Palesh, O., & Kesler, S. R. (2019). Predicting patient reported outcomes of cognitive function using connectomebased predictive modeling in breast cancer. *Brain Topography*, 33(1), 135-142. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10548-019-00746-4
- Henneghan, A. M., Palesh, O., Harrison, M., & Kesler, S. R. (2018). Identifying cytokine predictors of cognitive functioning in breast cancer survivors up to 10 years post chemotherapy using machine learning. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 320, 38-47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2018.04.012
- Henneghan, A., Haley, A. P., & Kesler, S. (2020). Exploring relationships among peripheral amyloid beta, tau, cytokines, cognitive function, and psychosomatic symptoms in breast cancer survivors. *Biological Research for Nursing*, 22(1), 126-138. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1099800419887230
- Hermelink, K., Untch, M., Lux, M. P., Kreienberg, R., Beck, T., Bauerfeind, I., & Münzel, K. (2007). Cognitive function during neoadjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer: Results of a prospective, multicenter, longitudinal study. *Cancer*, 109(9), 1905-1913. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.22610

Curtin University

- Hinz, A., Mehnert, A., Kocalevent, R. D., Brähler, E., Forkmann, T., Singer, S., & Schulte, T. (2016). Assessment of depression severity with the PHQ-9 in cancer patients and in the general population. *BMC Psychiatry*, 16(1), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-016-0728-6
- Hong, X., Chen, Y., Wang, J., Shen, Y., Li, Q., Zhao, B., Guo, X., Feng, W., Wu, W., & Li, C. (2021). Effects of multi-domain cognitive training on working memory retrieval in older adults: Behavioral and ERP evidence from a Chinese community study. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-79784-z
- Hopkin, C. R., Hoyle, R. H., & Gottfredson, N. C. (2015). Maximizing the yield of small samples in prevention research: A review of general strategies and best practices. *Prevention Science*, 16(7), 950-955. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-014-0542-7
- Horowitz, T. S., Suls, J., & Treviño, M. (2018). A call for a neuroscience approach to cancer-related cognitive impairment. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 41(8), 493-496. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2018.05.001.
- Horowitz, T. S., Treviño, M., Gooch, I. M., & Duffy, K. A. (2019). Understanding the profile of cancerrelated cognitive impairments: A critique of meta-analyses. *JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 111(10), 1009-1015. https://doi.org/10.1093%2Fjnci%2Fdjz100
- Hshieh, T. T., Jung, W. F., Grande, L. J., Chen, J., Stone, R. M., Soiffer, R. J., Driver, J. A., & Abel, G. A. (2018). Prevalence of cognitive impairment and association with survival among older patients with hematologic cancers. *JAMA Oncology*, 4(5), 686-693. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2017.5674
- Humes, G. E., Welsh, M. C., Retzlaff, P. D., & Cookson, N. 1997. Towers of Hanoi and London: Reliability and validity of two executive function tasks. Assessment, 4, 249–257. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F107319119700400305
- Hurria, A., Jones, L., & Muss, H. B. (2016). Cancer treatment as an accelerated aging process: assessment, biomarkers, and interventions. *American Society of Clinical Oncology Educational Book*, 36, e516e522. https://doi.org/10.1200/EDBK_156160
- Husain, M. (2017). Transdiagnostic neurology: Neuropsychiatric symptoms in neurodegenerative diseases. *Brain*, 140(6), 1535-1536. http://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awx115
- Hutterer, M., & Oberndorfer, S. (2021). Cognitive impairment in cancer patients and survivors—clinical presentation, pathophysiology, diagnosis and management. *memo -Magazine of European Medical Oncology*, *14*(2), 157-167. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12254-021-00690-9
- Ingersoll, K. S., & Cohen, J. (2008). The impact of medication regimen factors on adherence to chronic treatment: A review of literature. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 31(3), 213-224. https://doi.org/10.1007%2Fs10865-007-9147-y
- Janelsins, M. C., Heckler, C. E., Peppone, L. J., Ahles, T. A., Mohile, S. G., Mustian, K. M., Palesh, O., O'Mara, A.M., Minasian, L. M., Williams, A. M., Magnuson, A., Geer, J., Dakhil, S. R., Hopkins, J. O., & Morrow, G. R. (2018). Longitudinal trajectory and characterization of cancer-related cognitive impairment in a nationwide cohort study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *36*(32), 3231. https://doi.org/10.1200%2FJCO.2018.78.6624
- Janelsins, M. C., Kesler, S. R., Ahles, T. A., & Morrow, G. R. (2014). Prevalence, mechanisms, and management of cancer-related cognitive impairment. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 26(1), 102-113. https://doi.org/10.3109/09540261.2013.864260
- Jiménez-Buedo, M., & Miller, L. M. (2010). Why a trade-off? The relationship between the external and internal validity of experiments. *Theoria*, 25(3), 301-321. https://ojs.ehu.eus/index.php/THEORIA/article/view/779/700
- Jimmy, B., & Jose, J. (2011). Patient medication adherence: Measures in daily practice. Oman Medical Journal, 26(3), 155. https://doi.org/10.5001%2Fomj.2011.38
- Jin, W. S., Bu, X. L., Liu, Y. H., Shen, L. L., Zhuang, Z. Q., Jiao, S. S., Zhu, C., Wang, Q.-H., Zhou, H.-D., Zhang, T., & Wang, Y. J. (2017). Plasma amyloid-beta levels in patients with different types of cancer. *Neurotoxicity Research*, 31(2), 283-288.
- Johan, T., Hans, F., Bernt A, E., & Arne, G. (2012). Clinical validation of Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Automated Battery in a Norwegian epilepsy population. *Journal of Behavioral and Brain Science*, 2012. http://www.scirp.org/journal/PaperInformation.aspx?PaperID=17736

- Johnstone, B., Callahan, C. D., Kapila, C. J., & Bouman, D. E. (1996). The comparability of the WRAT-R reading test and NAART as estimates of premorbid intelligence in neurologically impaired patients. Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology, 11(6), 513-519. https://doi.org/10.1016/0887-6177(96)82330-4
- Kallio, E. L., Öhman, H., Kautiainen, H., Hietanen, M., & Pitkälä, K. (2017). Cognitive training interventions for patients with Alzheimer's disease: A systematic review. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 56(4), 1349-1372. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-160810
- Kang, M. J., Kim, S. M., Han, S. E., Bae, J. H., Yu, W. J., Park, M. Y., ... & Yang, Y. (2019). Effect of paper-based cognitive training in early stage of Alzheimer's dementia. *Dementia and Neurocognitive Disorders*, 18(2), 62-68. https://doi.org/10.12779/dnd.2019.18.2.62
- Kesler, S. R., Petersen, M. L., Rao, V., Harrison, R. A., & Palesh, O. (2020). Functional connectome biotypes of chemotherapy-related cognitive impairment. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*, 14(4), 483-493. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-020-00863-1
- Kesler, S. R., Rao, V., Ray, W. J., Rao, A., & Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative. (2017). Probability of Alzheimer's disease in breast cancer survivors based on gray-matter structural network efficiency. Alzheimer's & Dementia: Diagnosis, Assessment & Disease Monitoring, 9, 67-75. https://doi.org/10.1016%2Fj.dadm.2017.10.002
- Kim, S. Y., Kissane, D. W., Richardson, G., Senior, J., Morgan, J., Gregory, P., Birks, S., Ooi, C., Lipton, L., Antill, Y., Vereker, M., Michael, N., & Bobevski, I. (2022). The role of depression and other psychological factors in work ability among breast cancer survivors in Australia. *Psycho-Oncology*, 31(2), 167-175. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.5802
- King, S., & Green, H. J. (2015). Psychological intervention for improving cognitive function in cancer survivors: A literature review and randomized controlled trial. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 5, 72. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2015.00072
- Koh, Y. Q., Tan, C. J., Toh, Y. L., Sze, S. K., Ho, H. K., Limoli, C. L., & Chan, A. (2020). Role of exosomes in cancer-related cognitive impairment. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(8), 2755. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21082755
- Kouhpas, E. N., Karimi, Z., Rahmani, B., & Shoaee, F. (2020). The relationship between existential anxiety and demoralization syndrome in predicting psychological well-being of patient with cancer. *Practice in Clinical Psychology*, 8(3), 175-182. http://doi.org/10.32598/jpcp.8.3.515.1
- Krause, S., Rydall, A., Hales, S., Rodin, G., & Lo, C. (2015). Initial validation of the Death and Dying Distress Scale for the assessment of death anxiety in patients with advanced cancer. *Journal of Pain* and Symptom Management, 49(1), 126-134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2014.04.012
- Kroenke, K., Spitzer, R. L., & Williams, J. B. (2001). The PHQ-9: Validity of a brief depression severity measure. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *16*(9), 606-613. https://doi.org/10.1046%2Fj.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x
- Lambert, M., Ouimet, L. A., Wan, C., Stewart, A., Collins, B., Vitoroulis, I., & Bielajew, C. (2018). Cancerrelated cognitive impairment in breast cancer survivors: An examination of conceptual and statistical cognitive domains using principal component analysis. *Oncology Reviews*, 12(2), 371. https://doi.org/10.4081%2Foncol.2018.371
- Lange, M., Joly, F., Vardy, J., Ahles, T., Dubois, M., Tron, L., ... & Castel, H. (2019). Cancer-related cognitive impairment: An update on state of the art, detection, and management strategies in cancer survivors. *Annals of Oncology*, 30(12), 1925-1940. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdz410
- Leparulo, A., Bisio, M., Redolfi, N., Pozzan, T., Vassanelli, S., & Fasolato, C. (2022). Accelerated aging characterizes the early stage of Alzheimer's disease. *Cells*, 11(2), 238. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells11020238
- Liou, K. T., Ahles, T. A., Garland, S. N., Li, Q. S., Bao, T., Li, Y., Root, J. C., & Mao, J. J. (2019). The relationship between insomnia and cognitive impairment in breast cancer survivors. *JNCI Cancer Spectrum*, 3(3), 1-25. https://doi.org/10.1093/jncics/pkz041
- Lo, C., Hales, S., Zimmermann, C., Gagliese, L., Rydall, A., & Rodin, G. (2011). Measuring death-related anxiety in advanced cancer: Preliminary psychometrics of the Death and Dying Distress



Scale. *Journal of Pediatric Hematology/Oncology*, *33*, S140-S145. https://doi.org/10.1097/MPH.0b013e318230e1fd

- Lowe, C., & Rabbitt, P. (1998). Test/re-test reliability of the CANTAB and ISPOCD neuropsychological batteries: Theoretical and practical issues. *Neuropsychologia*, 36(9), 915-923. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0028-3932(98)00036-0
- Lv, L., Mao, S., Dong, H., Hu, P., & Dong, R. (2020). Pathogenesis, assessments, and management of chemotherapy-related cognitive impairment (CRCI): An updated literature review. *Journal of Oncology*, 2020, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/3942439
- Maeir, T., Nahum, M., Makranz, C., Tsabari, S., Peretz, T., & Gilboa, Y. (2022). Predictors of quality of life among adults with self-reported cancer related cognitive impairment. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2022.2050954
- Mantovani, A., Allavena, P., Sica, A., & Balkwill, F. (2008). Cancer-related inflammation. *Nature*, 454(7203), 436-444. https://doi.org/10.1038%2Fnature07205
- Mayo, S. J., Lustberg, M., M Dhillon, H., Nakamura, Z. M., Allen, D. H., Von Ah, D., ... & Peters, K. B. (2021). Cancer-related cognitive impairment in patients with non-central nervous system malignancies: An overview for oncology providers from the MASCC Neurological Complications Study Group. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 29(6), 2821-2840. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-020-05860-9
- McCallum, S., & Boletsis, C. (2013). A taxonomy of serious games for dementia. In Schouten, B., Fedtke, S., Bekker, T., Schijven, M., & Gekker, A. (eds), *Games for Health* (pp. 219-232). Springer Vieweg, Wiesbaden. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-02897-8 17
- Melzack, R. (1975). The McGill Pain Questionnaire: Major properties and scoring methods. *Pain*, *1*(3), 277-299. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3959(75)90044-5
- Melzack, R., & Torgerson, W. S. (1971). On the language of pain. The Journal of the American Society of Anesthesiologists, 34(1), 50-59. https://doi.org/10.1097/00000542-197101000-00017
- Mollayeva, T., Thurairajah, P., Burton, K., Mollayeva, S., Shapiro, C. M., & Colantonio, A. (2016). The Pittsburgh sleep quality index as a screening tool for sleep dysfunction in clinical and non-clinical samples: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 25, 52-73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2015.01.009
- Naser, A. Y., Hameed, A. N., Mustafa, N., Alwafi, H., Dahmash, E. Z., Alyami, H. S., & Khalil, H. (2021). Depression and anxiety in patients with cancer: A cross-sectional study. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.585534
- National Health and Medical Research Council, Australian Research Council, & Universities Australia. (2016). Safety monitoring and reporting in clinical trials involving therapeutic goods. https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/guidelines-publications/eh59
- The National Health and Medical Research Council, the Australian Research Council, & Universities Australia. (2018). National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research. Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra. https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/about-us/publications/national-statement-ethicalconduct-human-research-2007-updated-2018
- Ng, T., Chian, M. T., Yeo, H. L. A., Shwe, M., Gan, Y. X., Loh, W. J. K., ... & Chan, A. (2016). DNA methyltransferase 1 (DNMT1) polymorphism and chemotherapy-associated cognitive impairment in early-stage breast cancer patients (ESBC): A prospective, longitudinal study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 34(15), 10014. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2016.34.15_suppl.10014
- Ng, T., Lee, Y. Y., Chae, J. W., Yeo, A. H. L., Shwe, M., Gan, Y. X., Ng, R. C. H., Chu, P. P. Y., Khor, C. C., Ho, H. K., & Chan, A. (2017). Evaluation of plasma brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels and self-perceived cognitive impairment post-chemotherapy: A longitudinal study. *BioMed Central Cancer*, *17*(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1186%2Fs12885-017-3861-9
- Ngamkham, S., Vincent, C., Finnegan, L., Holden, J. E., Wang, Z. J., & Wilkie, D. J. (2012). The McGill Pain Questionnaire as a multidimensional measure in people with cancer: An integrative review. *Pain Management Nursing*, *13*(1), 27-51. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmn.2010.12.003



- Nilsonne, G., Lekander, M., Åkerstedt, T., Axelsson, J., & Ingre, M. (2016). Diurnal variation of circulating interleukin-6 in humans: A meta-analysis. *PLoS One*, 11(11), e0165799. https://doi.org/10.1371%2Fjournal.pone.0165799
- Olsen, J. P., Fellows, R. P., Rivera-Mindt, M., Morgello, S., Byrd, D. A., & Manhattan HIV Brain Bank. (2015). Reading ability as an estimator of premorbid intelligence: Does it remain stable among ethnically diverse HIV+ adults?. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, 29(7), 1034-1052. https://doi.org/10.1080%2F13854046.2015.1122085
- Oppegaard, K., Harris, C. S., Shin, J., Paul, S. M., Cooper, B. A., Chan, A., ... & Kober, K. M. (2021). Cancer-related cognitive impairment is associated with perturbations in inflammatory pathways. *Cytokine*, *148*, 155653. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2021.155653
- Otte, J. L., Carpenter, J. S., Manchanda, S., Rand, K. L., Skaar, T. C., Weaver, M., Chernyak, Y., Zhong, X., Igega, C., & Landis, C. (2015). Systematic review of sleep disorders in cancer patients: Can the prevalence of sleep disorders be ascertained? *Cancer Medicine*, 4(2), 183-200. https://doi.org/10.1002/cam4.356
- Ownsworth, T., & Nash, K. (2015). Existential well-being and meaning making in the context of primary brain tumor: Conceptualization and implications for intervention. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 5, 96. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2015.00096
- Palmer, A. C. S., Zortea, M., Souza, A., Santos, V., Biazús, J. V., Torres, I. L. S., Fregni, F., & Caumo, W. (2020). Clinical impact of melatonin on breast cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy; effects on cognition, sleep and depressive symptoms: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *PloS One*, 15(4), e0231379. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0231379
- Pandey, P., Sliker, B., Peters, H. L., Tuli, A., Herskovitz, J., Smits, K., Purohit, A. Singh, R. K., Dong, J., Batra, S. K., Coulter, D. W., & Solheim, J. C. (2016). Amyloid precursor protein and amyloid precursor-like protein 2 in cancer. *Oncotarget*, 7(15), 19430. https://doi.org/10.18632%2Foncotarget.7103
- Philipp, R., Kalender, A., Härter, M., Bokemeyer, C., Oechsle, K., Koch, U., & Vehling, S. (2021). Existential distress in patients with advanced cancer and their caregivers: Study protocol of a longitudinal cohort study. *BMJ Open*, 11(4), e046351. http://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-046351
- Robinson, S., Kissane, D. W., Brooker, J., & Burney, S. (2015). A systematic review of the demoralization syndrome in individuals with progressive disease and cancer: A decade of research. *Journal of Pain* and Symptom Management, 49(3), 595-610.
- Robinson, S., Kissane, D. W., Brooker, J., Hempton, C., Michael, N., Fischer, J., Franco, M., Sulistio, M., Clarke, D. M., Ozmen, M., & Burney, S. (2016). Refinement and revalidation of the demoralization scale: The DS-II—External validity. *Cancer*, 122(14), 2260-2267. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.30012
- Robinson, S., Kissane, D. W., Brooker, J., Michael, N., Fischer, J., Franco, M., Sulistio, M., Hempton, C., Pallant, J. F., Clarke, D. M., & Burney, S. (2016). Refinement and revalidation of the demoralization scale: The DS-II—internal validity. *Cancer*, 122(14), 2251-2259. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.30015
- Roila, F., Molassiotis, A., Herrstedt, J., Aapro, M., Gralla, R. J., Bruera, E., ... & Van der Wetering, M. (2016). 2016 MASCC and ESMO guideline update for the prevention of chemotherapy-and radiotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting and of nausea and vomiting in advanced cancer patients. *Annals of Oncology*, 27, v119-v133. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdw270
- Root, J. C., Ryan, E., Barnett, G., Andreotti, C., Bolutayo, K., & Ahles, T. (2015). Learning and memory performance in a cohort of clinically referred breast cancer survivors: The role of attention versus forgetting in patient-reported memory complaints. *Psycho-Oncology*, 24(5), 548-555. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.3615
- Sadigh-Eteghad, S., Talebi, M., & Farhoudi, M. (2012). Association of apolipoprotein E epsilon 4 allele with sporadic late onset Alzheimer's disease. A meta-analysis. *Neurosciences Journal*, 17(4), 321-326. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23022896/
- Santos, J. C., & Pyter, L. M. (2018). Neuroimmunology of behavioral comorbidities associated with cancer and cancer treatments. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 9, 1195. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.01195

Sayegh, P., Arentoft, A., Thaler, N. S., Dean, A. C., & Thames, A. D. (2014). Quality of education predicts performance on the wide range achievement test-word reading subtest. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, 29(8), 731-736. https://doi.org/10.1093/arclin/acu059

Curtin University

- Schagen, S. B., Das, E., & Vermeulen, I. (2012). Information about chemotherapy-associated cognitive problems contributes to cognitive problems in cancer patients. *Psycho-Oncology*, 21(10), 1132-1135. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.2011
- Schagen, S. B., Tsvetkov, A. S., Compter, A., & Wefel, J. S. (2022). Cognitive adverse effects of chemotherapy and immunotherapy: Are interventions within reach? *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41582-021-00617-2
- Schroyen, G., Blommaert, J., van Weehaeghe, D., Sleurs, C., Vandenbulcke, M., Dedoncker, N., Hatse, S., Goris, H., Koole, M., Smeets, A., van Laere, K., Sunaert, S., & Deprez, S. (2021).
 Neuroinflammation and its association with cognition, neuronal markers and peripheral inflammation after chemotherapy for breast cancer. *Cancers*, *13*(16), 4198. https://doi.org/10.3390%2Fcancers13164198
- Schroyen, G., Vissers, J., Smeets, A., Gillebert, C. R., Lemiere, J., Sunaert, S., Deprez, S., & Sleurs, C. (2022). Blood and neuroimaging biomarkers of cognitive sequelae in breast cancer patients throughout chemotherapy: A systematic review. *Translational Oncology*, 16, 101297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranon.2021.101297
- Seigers, R., & Fardell, J. E. (2011). Neurobiological basis of chemotherapy-induced cognitive impairment: A review of rodent research. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 35(3), 729-741. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.09.006
- Sekhon, M., Cartwright, M., & Francis, J. J. (2022). Development of a theory-informed questionnaire to assess the acceptability of healthcare interventions. *BMC Health Services Research*, 22(1), 279. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-022-07577-3
- Sharafeldin, N., Richman, J., Bosworth, A., Chen, Y., Singh, P., Patel, S. K., Wang, X., Francisco, L., Forman, S. J., Wong, F. L., & Bhatia, S. (2020). Clinical and genetic risk prediction of cognitive impairment after blood or marrow transplantation for hematologic malignancy. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 38(12), 1312. https://doi.org/10.1200%2FJCO.19.01085
- Sharma, A. (2013). Cambridge neuropsychological test automated battery. *Encyclopedia of Autism Spectrum Disorders*. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1698-3_869
- Shunmugasundaram, C., Rutherford, C., Butow, P. N., Sundaresan, P., & Dhillon, H. M. (2020). What are the optimal measures to identify anxiety and depression in people diagnosed with head and neck cancer (HNC): A systematic review. *Journal of Patient-Reported Outcomes*, 4(1), 1-14.
- Smith, P. J., Need, A. C., Cirulli, E. T., Chiba-Falek, O., & Attix, D. K. (2013). A comparison of the Cambridge Automated Neuropsychological Test Battery (CANTAB) with "traditional" neuropsychological testing instruments. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 35(3), 319-328. https://doi.org/10.1080/13803395.2013.771618
- Sperling, R. A., Mormino, E. C., Schultz, A. P., Betensky, R. A., Papp, K. V., Amariglio, R. E., Hanseeuw, B.J., Buckley, R., Chhatwal, J., Hedden, T., Marshall, G. A., Quiroz, Y. T., Donovan, N. J., Jackson, J., Gatchel, J. R., Rabin, J. S., Jacobs, H., Yang, H. S., Properzi, M., Kirn, D. R., Rentz, D. M., & Johnson, K. A. (2019). The impact of amyloid-beta and tau on prospective cognitive decline in older individuals. *Annals of Neurology*, 85(2), 181-193. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.25395
- Spitzer, R. L., Kroenke, K., Williams, J. B., & Löwe, B. (2006). A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. Archives of Internal Medicine, 166(10), 1092-1097. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092
- Strikwerda-Brown, C., Ramanan, S., & Irish, M. (2019). Neurocognitive mechanisms of theory of mind impairment in neurodegeneration: A transdiagnostic approach. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*. https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S158996
- Sun, W., Matsuoka, T., & Narumoto, J. (2021). Decision-making support for people with Alzheimer's disease: A narrative review. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 5322. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.750803



- Tan, C. J., Lim, S. W. T., Toh, Y. L., Ng, T., Yeo, A., Shwe, M., Foo, K. M., Chu, P., Jain, A., Koo, S.-K., Dent, R. A., Ng, R. C. H., Yap, Y. S., Loh, K. W.-J., Chay, W. Y., Lee, G. E., Tan, T. J. Y., Beh, S. Y., ... Chan, A. (2019). Replication and meta-analysis of the association between BDNF Val66Met polymorphism and cognitive impairment in patients receiving chemotherapy. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 56(7), 4741-4750. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-018-1410-4
- Tao, Y., Han, Y., Yu, L., Wang, Q., Leng, S. X., & Zhang, H. (2020). The predicted key molecules, functions, and pathways that bridge mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and Alzheimer's disease (AD). Frontiers in Neurology, 11, 233. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2020.00233
- Thulesius, H. (2020). Increased importance of digital medicine and eHealth during the Covid-19 pandemic. *Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care, 38*(2), 105-106. https://doi.org/10.1080/02813432.2020.1770466
- Thye, S. R. (2000). Reliability in experimental sociology. *Social Forces*, 78(4), 1277-1309. https://doi.org/10.1093/sf/78.4.1277
- Tonga, J. B., Eilertsen, D. E., Solem, I. K. L., Arnevik, E. A., Korsnes, M. S., & Ulstein, I. D. (2020). Effect of self-efficacy on quality of life in people with mild cognitive impairment and mild dementia: The mediating roles of depression and anxiety. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease & Other Dementias*, 35, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1533317519885264
- Vardy, J., Rourke, S., & Tannock, I. F. (2007). Evaluation of cognitive function associated with chemotherapy: A review of published studies and recommendations for future research. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 25(17), 2455-2463. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.2006.08.1604
- Von Ah, D., & Crouch, A. (2020). Cognitive rehabilitation for cognitive dysfunction after cancer and cancer treatment: Implications for nursing practice. *Seminars in Oncology Nursing*, 36(1), 150977. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soncn.2019.150977
- Von Ah, D., & Tallman, E. F. (2015). Perceived cognitive function in breast cancer survivors: evaluating relationships with objective cognitive performance and other symptoms using the functional assessment of cancer therapy—cognitive function instrument. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, 49(4), 697-706. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2014.08.012
- Von Ah, D., Carpenter, J. S., Saykin, A., Monahan, P., Wu, J., Yu, M., Rebok, G., Ball, K., Schneider, B., Weaver, M., Tallman, E., & Unverzagt, F. (2012). Advanced cognitive training for breast cancer survivors: A randomized controlled trial. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 135(3), 799-809. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-012-2210-6
- Wagland, R., Fenlon, D., Tarrant, R., Howard-Jones, G., & Richardson, A. (2015). Rebuilding selfconfidence after cancer: A feasibility study of life-coaching. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 23(3), 651-659. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-014-2399-5
- Waks, A. G., & Winer, E. P. (2019). Breast cancer treatment: A review. *JAMA*, 321(3), 288-300. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.19323
- Wefel, J. S., Kesler, S. R., Noll, K. R., & Schagen, S. B. (2015). Clinical characteristics, pathophysiology, and management of noncentral nervous system cancer-related cognitive impairment in adults. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 65(2), 123-138. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21258
- Wefel, J. S., Vardy, J., Ahles, T., & Schagen, S. B. (2011). International Cognition and Cancer Task Force recommendations to harmonise studies of cognitive function in patients with cancer. *The Lancet Oncology*, 12(7), 703-708. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(10)70294-1
- Wei, J., Hou, J., Mu, T., Sun, J., Li, S., Wu, H., Bin, S., & Zhang, T. (2022). Evaluation of computerized cognitive training and cognitive and daily function in patients living with HIV: A metaanalysis. JAMA Network Open, 5(3), e220970-e220970. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.0970
- Welsh, M. C., Satterlee-Cartmell, T., & Stine, M. (1999). Towers of Hanoi and London: Contribution of working memory and inhibition to performance. *Brain and Cognition*, 41(2), 231-242. https://doi.org/10.1006/brcg.1999.1123
- Whitehall, L., Rush, R., Górska, S., & Forsyth, K. (2021). The general self-efficacy of older adults receiving care: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Gerontologist*, 61(6), e302-e317. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnaa036



- Wilkinson, G. S., & Robertson, G. J. (2006). Wide range achievement test (WRAT4). Lutz, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Williams, A. M., Zent, C. S., & Janelsins, M. C. (2016). What is known and unknown about chemotherapyrelated cognitive impairment in patients with haematological malignancies and areas of needed research. *British Journal of Haematology*, 174(6), 835-846. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjh.14211
- Wisniewski, T., & Drummond, E. (2020). APOE-amyloid interaction: Therapeutic targets. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 138, 104784. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2020.104784
- Witte, J., Mehlis, K., Surmann, B., Lingnau, R., Damm, O., Greiner, W., & Winkler, E. C. (2019). Methods for measuring financial toxicity after cancer diagnosis and treatment: A systematic review and its implications. *Annals of Oncology*, 30(7), 1061-1070. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdz140
- Wong, S. K., Hamm, J., Shokoohi, A., McGahan, C. E., & Ho, C. (2021). Real world duration of curative intent breast, colorectal, non-small cell lung, and prostate cancer treatment. *BMC Cancer*, 21(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-021-07923-4
- Yang, Y., & Hendrix, C. C. (2018). Cancer-related cognitive impairment in breast cancer patients: Influences of psychological variables. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Oncology Nursing*, 5(3), 296-306. https://doi.org/10.4103/apjon.apjon 16 18
- Yap, N. Y., Toh, Y. L., Tan, C. J., Acharya, M. M., & Chan, A. (2021). Relationship between cytokines and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) in trajectories of cancer-related cognitive impairment. *Cytokine*, 144, 155556. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2021.155556
- Zeng, Y., Cheng, A. S., & Chan, C. C. (2016). Meta-analysis of the effects of neuropsychological interventions on cognitive function in non-central nervous system cancer survivors. *Integrative Cancer Therapies*, 15(4), 424–434. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534735416638737
- Zeng, Y., Dong, J., Huang, M., Zhang, J. E., Zhang, X., Xie, M., & Wefel, J. S. (2020). Nonpharmacological interventions for cancer-related cognitive impairment in adult cancer patients: A network metaanalysis. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 104, 103514. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2019.103514
- Zhang, H., Wang, Z., Wang, J., Lyu, X., Wang, X., Liu, Y., Zeng, X., Yuan, H., & Yu, X. (2019). Computerized multi-domain cognitive training reduces brain atrophy in patients with amnestic mild cognitive impairment. *Translational Psychiatry*, 9(1), 1-10.
- Zhao, H., Li, X., Wu, W., Li, Z., Qian, L., Li, S., Zhang, B., & Xu, Y. (2015). Atrophic patterns of the frontal-subcortical circuits in patients with mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *PloS* One, 10(6), e0130017. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0130017
- Zhou, S. P., Fei, S. D., Han, H. H., Li, J. J., Yang, S., & Zhao, C. Y. (2021). A prediction model for cognitive impairment risk in colorectal cancer after chemotherapy treatment. *BioMed Research International*, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/6666453



Appendix A: Simple Study Design Flowchart



Appendix B: Psychometrics of Proposed Cognitive Measures

Wide Range Assessment Test – Fourth Edition

Developed by Wilkinson and Robertson (2006), the Wide Range Assessment Test – Fourth Edition Word Reading Subtest (WRAT-4-WR), with reference to norms, is one of four subtests of the WRAT-4, and assesses the academic skill of baseline reading ability. The WRAT-4 has primarily been used to investigate learning, behavioural, and vocational difficulties; the WRAT-4-WR has been used as a measure of premorbid IQ, serving as a proxy measure of cognitive reserve, in individuals with mild-moderate cognitive impairment (e.g., Baker et al., 2017). As reading ability is a crystalised form of intelligence, research suggests it is relatively unaffected by mild to moderate cognitive decline, in healthy ageing, neurodegenerative disorders, and CRCI (Janelsins et al., 2018; Johnstone et al., 1996; Olsen et al., 2015). Respondents are given 75 written words, increasing in lexical complexity, and are asked to read them aloud. The test is terminated when 10 consecutive words are mispronounced. Administration will take 5-10 minutes. These raw scores are converted into a standardised score with a mean of 100, that can be referenced against normed scores. The WRAT-4-WR is psychometrically robust, indicated by adequate construct validity with years of formal education (r = .60) and quality of education (r = .37), and excellent internal consistency (Cronbach's $\alpha = .92-96$; Casaletto et al., 2014; Sayegh et al., 2014).

Verbal Recognition Memory

Developed by Cambridge Cognition, the Verbal Recognition Memory test (VRM) assesses immediate and delayed recall, by measuring the ability to learn/remember new information, and then subsequently retrieve that information (Sharma, 2013). This is achieved through free recall and forced choice recognition. Respondents are shown a list of 12 words, one word at a time. Immediately after which, they are asked to recall as many of those words as possible. Then, respondents are asked to recognise the original words from a list of 24 words – comprising of both the 12 original and 12 distractors. For the next 20 minutes, other assessments are administered; following which, the respondents are asked to recognise the original words from another list of 24 words – comprising of 12 original and 12 *new* distractors. Performance is evaluated with regard to latency and accuracy. Administration takes 6-8 minutes in total. The VRM is psychometrically robust, with adequate validity indicated by moderate-strong correlations with traditional assessments (r = .46-.64), and sufficient test-retest reliability (intraclass correlation coefficient [ICC] = .49-76; Feenstra et al., 2018; Smith et al., 2013).

Delayed Match to Sample

Developed by Cambridge, the Delayed Match to Sample test (DMTS) assesses visual matching ability and recognition memory (Janelsins et al., 2018). Respondents are to correctly match a target pattern to one of four options. The delay period between being presented target pattern and being presented the four options varies (0, 4, & 12 second delays). Performance is evaluated with regard to latency and accuracy. Administration takes about 10 minutes (Sharma, 2013). The DMTS has robust psychometrics, with construct validity indicated by moderate-strong correlations with traditional tests of memory (r = .36-.74), and adequate test-retest reliability (ICC = .34-.56; Johan et al., 2012; Lowe & Rabbitt, 1998).

Rapid Visual Information Processing

Developed by Cambridge, the Rapid Visual Information Processing test (RVP) assesses visual sustained attention and processing speed (Janelsins et al., 2018). Respondents are asked to recognise a set of target number series of three numbers (e.g., 3, 5, 7), when presented with a series of 100 single digit numbers, one at a time; respondents are to click the screen when they believe the last number of a target sequence has been presented. Performance is evaluated with regard to latency and accuracy. Administration takes about 7 minutes (Sharma, 2013). The RVP has robust psychometrics, with construct validity indicated by moderate correlations with traditional tests of processing speed and attention (r = .35-.49) and adequate test-retest reliability (ICC = .52; Feenstra et al., 2018; Smith et al., 2013).

Tower of Hanoi

The Tower of Hanoi (TOH) assesses executive function and working memory (Humes et al., 1997). Respondents are presented with four different sized discs resting upon three equal length pegs. The aim is to duplicate a target configuration whilst adhering to the following rules: never place a larger disc upon a smaller disc; only one disc can be moved at a time; and all discs must be upon a peg or in hand (Humes et al., 1997). Performance is evaluated with regard to latency and accuracy. Administration takes about 10 minutes (Sharma, 2013). The TOH has robust psychometrics, with construct validity indicated by moderate correlations with other established tests of executive function and working memory (r = .37), and excellent internal consistency (Cronbach's $\alpha = .90$; Humes et al., 1997; Welsh et al., 1999).



Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-Cognition

The Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-Cognition (FACT-Cog) assesses subjective cognitive impairment, specifically in cancer patients and survivors (Dyk et al., 2020). Respondents score 37 items (e.g., "My thinking has been slow") on a 5-point Likert type scale, with reference to how often each statement applied to them over the last seven days (0 = Never; 1 = About once a week; <math>2 = Two to three times a week; 3 = Nearly every day; 4 = Several times a day). The FACT-Cog has four subscales: perceived cognitive impairments (scores range: 0-72); comments from others (scores range: 0-16); perceived cognitive abilities (scores range: 0-28); and impact on quality of life (scores range 0-16). After reverse-coding necessary item scores, take the mean of items within each subscale to obtain subscale scores; then sum subscale scores to derive total scores. Lower scores indicate greater perceived impairment. It is recommended the perceived cognitive impairments subscale is used as the primary outcome measure, with the sensitivity cut off of scores below 60, as proposed by Dyk et al. (2020). Administration takes 10-15 minutes. The FACT-Cog is psychometrically robust, with crossvalidation through from interviews with cancer patients, and adequate internal consistency (Cronbach's $\alpha = .77-86$; Dyk et al., 2020; Von Ah & Tallman, 2015).

Appendix C: Psychometrics of Proposed Psychosocial Measures

Patient Health Questionnaire-9

Developed by Kroenke et al. (2001), the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) assesses depressive symptomology and has often been used in populations with terminal or life-changing illnesses (Hinz et al., 2016; Naser et., 2021) Respondents score nine items (e.g., "Loss of interest") on a 4-point Likert type scale, with reference to how much they were bothered by that symptom over the last two weeks (0 = not at all; 1 = several days; 2 = more than half the days; 3 = nearly every day). Item scores are summed, and total scores range from 0-27, with higher scores representing higher levels of depressive symptomology; scores ≥ 5 , ≥ 10 , ≥ 15 , and ≥ 20 indicate mild, moderate, moderately severe, and severe depressive symptomology, respectively (Kroenke et al., 2001). The PHQ-9 was selected over other measures of the same/similar construct, as it has been the measure of choice when assessing outpatients in primary care settings (e.g., Naser et al., 2021). Completion takes three minutes. The PHQ-9 is psychometrically robust, indicated by convergent validity with the mental health scale of the Short Form Health Survey (.73), and excellent internal consistency (Cronbach's $\alpha = .89$; Kim et al., 2022; Kroenke et al., 2001; Shunmugasundaram et al., 2020).

General Anxiety Disorder-7

Developed by Spitzer et al. (2006), the General Anxiety Disorder (GAD-7) is a measure intended for anxiety screening and is recommended for use in cancer outpatients in primary care settings, rather than hospitalised ones (Naser et al., 2021). It is also suitable when wishing to detect both lower levels of anxiety as well as clinical levels (Clover et al., 2020). Respondents rate seven items (e.g., "Trouble relaxing") on a 4-point Likert-type scale, with reference to how much they were bothered by that symptom over the last two weeks (0 = not at all; 1 = several days; 2 = more than half the days; 3 = nearly every day). Item scores are summed, and total scores range from 0-21, with higher scores indicating higher levels of anxiety symptomology; scores ≥ 5 , ≥ 10 , and ≥ 15 indicate mild, moderate, and severe anxiety symptomology, respectively (Spitzer et al., 2006). It is recommended to use cut-off point of 4 for optimal sensitivity, rather than initially proposed cut-off points (Clover et al., 2020). Completion takes two minutes. The GAD-7 is psychometrically robust, indicated by adequate convergent validity with the Beck Anxiety Inventory (r = 0.72), and excellent internal consistency (Cronbach's $\alpha = .92$; Spitzer et al., 2006).

Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index

Developed by Buysse et al. (1989), the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) assesses sleep quality and screens for sleep disorders. Respondents answer 19 items (e.g., "During the past month, how would you rate your sleep quality overall?"), with each item scored from 0-3 by the administrator (0 = very good; 1 = fairly good; 2 = fairly bad; 3 = very bad). Items map onto seven subscales: subjective quality of sleep; sleep latency; sleep duration; usual sleep efficiency; sleep disorders; use of sleeping pills; and daytime dysfunction. Mean subscale scores, ranging from 0-3, are summed; reflecting global sleep quality, total scores range from 0-21, with higher scores indicating lower quality of sleep and greater sleep disorder symptomology. Total scores ≥ 5 indicate significant sleep disturbances and can specify the impaired domain(s); to maintain diagnostic sensitivity for cancer patients, total scores ≥ 8 has been recommended as the new threshold, with total scores ≥ 10 indicating clinical insomnia (Akman et al., 2015; Otte et al., 2015; Palmer et al., 2020). Completion takes 5-10 minutes. The PSQI is psychometrically robust, indicated by adequate convergent validity with the Insomnia Severity Index (r = .80), and sufficient internal consistency (Cronbach's $\alpha = .70-83$; Mollayeva et al., 2016).

McGill Pain Ouestionnaire-Short Form

Adapted from the original version developed by Melzack and Torgerson (1971), the McGill Pain Questionnaire–Short Form (MPQ-SF) assesses neurophysiological and psychological pain and has been recommended for clinical use (Harrington et al., 2018; Melzack, 1975; Ngamkham et al., 2012). The MPQ-SF has 17 items. The first 15 items are pain descriptors split into 11 sensory items (e.g., "Throbbing") and four affective items (e.g., "Sickening"), which are rated in terms of experienced severity on a 4-point Likerttype scale (0 = none; 1 = mild; 2 = moderate; 3 = severe). The last two items assess overall pain intensity, by asking respondents to i) indicate the pain they currently feel out of six options (0 = no pain; 1 = mild; 2 = discomforting; 3 = distressing; 4 = horrible; 5 = excruciating), and ii) indicate the average pain felt on a visual analogue scale, with no increments save anchoring endpoints of "No Pain" and "Worst Possible Pain" (scored 0-10 by administrator). The item scores for descriptors are summed, with total scores ranging from 0-45 (sensory subscale: 0-33; affective subscale: 0-12), with higher scores indicating greater experienced pain. The last two items are usually not included in this total score (Melzack, 1987). Completion takes 2-5 minutes, compared to the original 5-10 minutes (Melzack, 1987). Factor structures have differed between studies, with recommendations converging on selecting and reporting the structure that best fits the individual study (Harrington et al., 2018; Ngamkham et al., 2012). The shortened measure was selected as it minimises cognitive load for respondents, without compromising on psychometric properties, as indicated through adequate concurrent validity with the original MPQ (r = .77-.88), and excellent internal consistency (Cronbach's $\alpha = .91$; Harrington et al., 2018).

New General Self-Efficacy Scale

Developed Chen et al. (2001), the New General Self-Efficacy Scale (NGSE) assesses an individual's belief in their capability to successfully engage in and meet situational demands (Maeir et al., 2022; Whitehall et al., 2020). Respondents rate eight items (e.g., "Even when things are tough, I can perform quite well") in terms of agreement on a five-point Likert scale (1 = strongly disagree; 2 = disagree; 3 = neither agree nordisagree; 4 = agree; 5 = strongly agree). After summing item scores, total scores range from 8-40, withhigher scores indicating greater self-efficacy. Completion takes 2-3 minutes. The NGSE is psychometricallyrobust, indicated by adequate content validity (98% agreement between experts), and excellent internal $consistency (Cronbach's <math>\alpha = .86-.91$; Maeir et al., 2022; Wagland et al., 2015).

McGill Quality of Life Questionnaire – Expanded

Adapted from the original version developed by Cohen et al. (1995), the McGill Quality of Life Ouestionnaire – Expanded (MOOL-E) assesses guality of life and subjective well-being in individuals with a terminal or life-threatening illness, throughout that illness trajectory (Cohen et al., 1996; 2019). The MQOL-E endeavours to measure eight domains of quality of life: four domains from the original MOOL (physical, psychological, existential, social); and four new domains (healthcare, cognitive functioning, [feeling like a] burden, environment). It is recommended to structure questionnaire with the original questions first, in case of attrition. This significantly improved the comprehensiveness of this measure by an increase of only six items to the original MOOL's 15 items, justifying the added (however marginal) cognitive burden (Cohen et al., 2019). With reference to the past two days, respondents are asked to rate 21 items (e.g., "Getting the information I needed from the health care team was:") on a numeric response scale from 0-10, with extreme descriptors as anchoring endpoints (e.g., $\theta = Difficult$; 10 = Very easy). Completion is estimated to take 7-10 minutes. The MQOL-E is psychometrically robust. Convergent validity was demonstrated through moderate correlations (r = .65) with a global quality of life question, indicating both sufficient conceptual similarity and sufficient conceptual dissimilarity. The subscales with more than one item had sufficient internal consistency (Cronbach's $\alpha = .76-.87$), barring the physical subscale (Cronbach's $\alpha = .66$). Cohen et al. (2019) hypothesised that this slightly suboptimal internal consistency is likely due to the items reflecting diverse facets of physical health. Cohen et al. (2019) recommend using individual subscale scores, as they provide greater information than a total score. Furthermore, the factor structure may differ between populations, suggesting a need for exploratory factor analyses within the proposed research.

Death and Dying Distress Scale

Developed by Lo et al. (2011), the Death and Dying Distress Scale (DADDS) assesses death anxiety in cancer patients. The first version of the DADDS (14 items) was slightly modified with the addition of one item and has been subsequently validated (e.g., Krause et al., 2015). Respondents rate 15 items (e.g., "Running out of time.") on the level of distress that thought/concern elicited over the last two weeks, on a six-point Likert-type scale ($0 = I did not experience this thought or concern; 1 = I experienced very little distress; <math>2 = I experienced mild distress; 3 = I experienced moderate distress; 4 = I experienced great distress; 5 = I experienced extreme distress). After item scores are summed, total scores range from 0-75, with higher scores indicating greater death anxiety. Scores <math>\geq 25$ and ≥ 47 indicate moderate and severe death anxiety, respectively. Completion takes 5-10 minutes. The DADDS is psychometrically robust. Divergent validity was demonstrated through moderate-high negative correlations (r = -.68) with less preparation with end of life, and sufficient internal consistency was indicated by high Cronbach's alphas ($\alpha = . 93-95$; Krause et al., 2015; Lo et al., 2011).

Demoralisation Scale-II

Adapted from the original version developed by Kissane et al. (2004), the Demoralisation Scale-II (DS-II) assesses morale levels and quality of coping in patients with advanced cancer (Robinson, Kissane, Brooker, Hempton et al., 2016; Robinson, Kissane, Brooker, Michael et al., 2016). The DS-II is eight items shorter than original 24 item measure, and consists of two 8-item factors: i) Meaning and Purpose; and ii) Distress and Coping Ability. Respondents rate 16 items (e.g., "I would rather not be alive") with regard to frequency a 3-point Likert-type scale (0 = never; 1 = sometimes; 2 = often). After summing item scores, subscale scores range from 0-16 and total scores range from 0-32, with higher scores indicating greater



demoralisation. Completion takes 5-10 minutes. The DS-II is psychometrically robust; convergent validity was indicated by moderate correlations with an established measure of psychological distress (Memorial Symptom Assessment Scale; r = .65). Whilst factor structure may differ across populations, the internal consistency of subscales has generally been reported as acceptable (Cronbach's $\alpha = .82-84$); the internal consistency of the total scale is excellent (Cronbach's $\alpha = .84-94$; Philipp et al., 2021; Robinson, Kissane, Brooker, Hempton et al., 2016; Robinson, Kissane, Brooker, Michael et al., 2016).



	Proposed Publication	Target Journals	2021 Impact Factor (Quartile Range)
1.	Cross section of biological, psychosocial, and demographic mechanisms with cognitive function	Psycho-Oncology	3.611 (Q1)
		Journal of Cancer Survivorship	4.428 (Q1)
2.	CRCI and affective factors	Psycho-Oncology	3.611 (Q1)
		Supportive Care in Cancer	3.450 (Q2)
3.	Intervention effects and longitudinal CRCI mechanisms in relation to cognitive function	Journal of Cancer Survivorship	4.428 (Q1)
		Translational Oncology	4.741 (Q2)
4.	Machine learning to predict CRCI	Journal of Cancer Survivorship	4.428 (Q1)
		Cancers	6.319 (Q1)
5.	Recommendations for practice for oncology health professionals and patients	Patient Education and Counseling	3.181 (Q2)
		Supportive Care in Cancer	3.450 (Q2)

Appendix D: Proposed Publications and Target Journal Information

Derived from: https://www.scimagojr.com/

Please note that these are merely descriptive journal article names and will not be used as the titles for the actual publications.